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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK
EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE
“STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which
a higher investment risk may be attached than other
companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective
investors should be aware of the potential risks of
investing in such companies and should make the decision
to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small
and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities
traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market
volatility than securities traded on the Main Board and no
assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the
securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock
Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this report,
make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and
expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever
arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the
contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of E Lighting
Group Holdings Limited (the "Company” or “E Lighting”)
collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes
particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM
Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with regard
to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable
enquiries, confirm that, to the best of their knowledge and belief
the information contained in this report is accurate and complete
in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and
there are no other matters the omission of which would make
any statement herein or this report misleading.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

Dear Shareholders,

E Lighting, a listed company with its business rooted in Hong
Kong and also one of the most established retail chain groups
of lighting and household products in Hong Kong, is committed
to the sustainable development of the environment and society
and is devoted to social responsibility. During the year ended 31
March 2024 (the “Financial Year”), E Lighting has participating
in several events launched by charitable institutions and has been
honoured a “Caring Company” for ten consecutive years.

Moreover, the Group has been participating in the “Fluorescent
Lamp Recycling Programme”, which provides households with
free collection and treatment for all used mercury-containing
lamps to reduce the environmental risk from improper disposal of
these lamps and recover resources.

Hong Kong retail market remains challenging, and would
continue to be affected by the continuous weak retail sentiment
in the near term. E Lighting has continued to promote its existing
business development. E Lighting will maintain a flexible and
tailored sales and marketing strategy to offer its consumers
with diversified and modern choices by accurately procuring the
suitable products for the domestic market, which will in turn
reinforce E Lighting’s leading market position. In the meantime,
the Group is actively promoting smart home and related products
and closely looking for more opportunities for those businesses.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT = & 3k &

Looking forward, housing is one of the biggest concerns and
needs for Hong Kong citizens and housing is closely related to
demand of lighting and household products. Therefore, the
Group is afforded with new opportunities in its various lines
of business. The Group will adopt more cautious strategies,
which will be executed with prudence and closely control its
expenditure in order to maintain its competitiveness. The Group
will strive to maintain a streamlined business operation, while
catering for consumers’ specific needs and being responsive to
market changes. Leveraging the support of the capital market, its
own strengths, and the global trends of saving energy, protecting
the environment and pursuing a higher quality of life, the Group
is cautiously confident of its development in the future. The
Group will strive to maintain steady growth and to maximise
returns for the investors.

Hue Kwok Chiu
Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 June 2024
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Dear Shareholders,

| present the results of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2024 (the "“Financial Year").

This Financial Year was a year full of challenges and opportunities
for E Lighting. The continuous weak retail sentiment in Hong
Kong have led the retail markets experienced a difficult operating
environment. To address the change in market condition, the
Group took proactive measures to strengthen cost and cash
flow control measures. In addition, the Group timely adjusted its
product strategies and actively carried out promotion activities
and expanded its business. The decline in global infection rates
and mass vaccination programs around the world have shed
some light on the situation. The Directors expect a recovery as
social distancing rules and all anti-epidemic measures have been
lifted. The Group will closely monitor the trend of the business
environment, timely adjust its product strategies and actively
carry out promotion activities, maintain pragmatic approach
for its business and take every chance to identify any suitable
opportunity in the market for the Group.

During the Financial Year, the Group's revenue was
approximately HK$74,347,000, representing a decrease of
approximately 5.8% from approximately HK$78,927,000 as
compared with that of the preceding year, which was mainly
due to the continuous impact of the weak sentiment in the retail
market.

During the Financial Year, the Group’s gross profit was
approximately HK$39,153,000 and recorded a loss of
approximately HK$11,511,000. As at 31 March 2024, the
Group’s net assets were approximately HK$8,689,000.
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CEO’S STATEMENT 77 Bk 48 #; 3R &

The Group will closely monitor the trend of the business
environment, maintain pragmatic approach for its business, and
take every chance to identify any suitable opportunity in the
market for the Group.

Lastly, | hereby express my sincere gratitude to all shareholders,
investors, business partners, staff and customers on behalf of E
Lighting. In spite of the challenges ahead, E Lighting will step
forward with ambitious entrepreneurship to reward for the
continuous supports from all parties.

Hui Kwok Keung Raymond
Founder and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 27 June 2024
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW

Retail chain business in lighting and designer label furniture is the
core business of the Group. Being one of the most established
retail chain groups of lighting products in Hong Kong, E
Lighting possesses rich experience in the sale of quality lighting
and designer label furniture products from all over the world.
During the Financial Year, the Group timely adjusted its product
strategies and actively carried out promotion activities.

FUTURE OUTLOOK

The Directors foresee that the Hong Kong retail market remains
challenging, retail market would continue to be affected by the
continuous weak retail sentiment in the near term. The Group
will closely monitor the trend of the business environment,
maintain pragmatic approach for its business and take every
chance to identify any suitable opportunity in the market for the
Group.

The Group will continue to concentrate on the consolidation of
its retail network, optimisation of product mix and intensification
of cost control, and will also continue to seize opportunities to
stabilise growth through cautious strategic planning.

In the meantime, the Group is actively promoting smart home
and related products and closely looking for more opportunities
for those businesses.

Looking forward, housing is one of the biggest concerns and
needs for Hong Kong citizens and housing is closely related to
demand of lighting and household products. Therefore, the
Group is afforded with new opportunities in its various lines
of business. The Group will adopt more cautious strategies,
which will be executed with prudence and closely control its
expenditure in order to maintain its competitiveness. The Group
will strive to maintain a streamlined business operation, while
catering for consumers’ specific needs and being responsive to
market changes. Leveraging the support of the capital market, its
own strengths, and the global trends of saving energy, protecting
the environment and pursuing a higher quality of life, the Group
is cautiously confident of its development in the future. The
Group will strive to maintain steady growth and to maximise
returns for the investors.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS & 2 JE &1 &8 M 2

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

During the Financial Year, the Group'’s revenue was
approximately HK$74,347,000, representing a decrease of
approximately 5.8% from approximately HK$78,927,000 as
compared with that of the preceding year, which was mainly
due to the continuous impact of the weak sentiment in the retail
market.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

During the Financial Year, the Group’s gross profit was
approximately HK$39,153,000, representing a decrease of
approximately 7.5% from approximately HK$42,308,000 as
compared with that of the preceding year. The decrease was
primarily due to decrease in sales and gross profit margin. During
the Financial Year, the Group's overall gross profit margin was
approximately 52.7%.

Selling and Distribution Expenses

During the Financial Year, the Group’s selling and distribution
expenses was approximately HK$27,271,000, representing
a decrease of approximately 3.7% from approximately
HK$28,318,000 as compared with that of the preceding
year. Selling and distribution expenses primarily consists of
depreciation on right-of-use assets, staff costs (including
salaries and sales commission to salespersons) and electronic
payment charges. The decrease was primarily due to decrease in
depreciation on right-of-use assets.

Administrative and Other Expenses

During the Financial Year, the Group’s administrative and other
expenses was approximately HK$14,469,000, representing
a decrease of approximately 15.4% from approximately
HK$17,094,000 as compared with that of the preceding
year. Administrative and other expenses primarily consists
of depreciation of right-of-use assets of office premises
and warehousing facilities, staff costs (including salaries
to administrative staff and emoluments to Directors) and
professional expenses. The decrease was primarily due to
decrease in staff costs.

Loss for the Year

The Group recorded a loss of approximately HK$11,511,000
during the Financial Year (2023: HK$6,845,000).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS & 2 [Z & &8 & 2 1T

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD, BEENEAKRE MWBATMNEKX
MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS WEREREHE  RREEREKESE
OF SUBSIDIARIES AND FUTURE PLANS FOR ABREEWG 2
MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL ASSETS
(i) Renewal of Tenancy Agreement of Tsuen Wan () EEZEMH2HERS -

Shop 310:

On 2 May 2023 (after trading hours), Lighting Connected NR-ZZEBE-_=FRHA=-B (X5EKEEE%E)

Limited (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) as
tenant finalised the renewal terms with CDW Building

RABEBRAR (ARAA2EHBARF)
EAT P HCDW Building Limited (Z3T)

Limited as landlord to renew the existing tenancy MEEEBRT LWEEREHERBEN
agreement for operation of retail store of retail business of EEBETEEERZTERB(EERE
the Group (the “Renewal of Tenancy Agreement of Tsuen 3102 HEWZHE])

Wan Shop 310").

Principal terms of Renewal of Tenancy Agreement of Tsuen Wan Shop 310:
BEREZE3I0 2 HE AN T ZIFA

Effective date:
B

Earties:
RSP

Premises:
E

Term:

HE

The aggregate value of

consideration payable:

ENRERE:

22 June 2023
—E-=#XAZ-+=H

(i)  CDW Building Limited as landlord; and
(i)  CDW Building Limited (fE&%F) 1 &

(i) Lighting Connected Limited as tenant.
(i REAEWAR AR (EREF) -

The landlord is a company incorporated in Hong Kong and principally engaged in
property investment. The landlord is a wholly-owned subsidiary of HKR International
Limited, the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of Stock Exchange (stock
code: 480).

XX A RHRBEBTMA LN FEREMEREER ZFRBFHERN
BREEERARCEZEWBAR - ERGOMRBERZAMER T (RMH AR - 480) °

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief having made
all reasonable enquiries, the landlord of the premises and its respective ultimate
beneficial owner(s) are the parties independent of and not connected with the
Company and its connected persons (the “Independent Third Party(|es) ).
WERESMAAE TEBMACREESH ¥XFREZNEREREEANLR
é%ﬁﬁ@ﬁ@ﬁ?&ﬁ@k}\iﬂiﬁiﬁim%ﬁ?ﬁ EMAT(BIE=R]) -

Shop No. 310 of 3rd Floor, CDW Building, 388 Castle Peak Road, Tsuen Wan, Hong
Kong

i?,%éf:*i LA BE 38855 A 2 K E3E3 1097 4

Three years from 22 June 2023 to 21 June 2026 (both days inclusive).
BT —FRAAZ+ZHEZR"FRAAZT—H(BEEEMR) BH=F -

Not less than HK$1,155,000, being the monthly basic rental in aggregate for the
term of three years (exclusive of rates, air-conditioning and management charges,
promotion levy and all other outgoings).

WE&BM 155,000 7T - = HBABAEAHE AR (T REEM 1P
HEEBRREMIH) -

Tenant shall pay the lease payment on monthly basis by internal resources.

HPAFBANERIZASNEERIE -

SHPAEEERERAT 2023/24F K
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS & 2 JE &1 &8 M 2

Reasons for and benefits of Renewal of Tenancy
Agreement of Tsuen Wan Shop 310:

Due to nature of its retail business in Hong Kong, the
Group has to enter into tenancy agreements for leasing of
retail stores from time to time. It would be beneficial to
lease the said premises as it will enable the Group to secure
its stable operation at the said premises without incurring
additional costs and expenses in identifying, renovating and
relocating to other retail store and ensure that there will be
no disruption to the operations, business and growth of the
Group.

The terms of Renewal of Tenancy Agreement of Tsuen Wan
Shop 310 (including the rental charge) were determined
after arm’s length negotiations between the parties and
with reference to the open market rent of comparable
properties in the nearby districts and the rental payment
made by the Group under the existing tenancy agreements.
The Board considers that the terms of the Renewal of
Tenancy Agreement of Tsuen Wan Shop 310 were entered
into on normal commercial terms, in the ordinary and usual
course of business of the Group and are fair and reasonable
and in the interests of the Company and the shareholders
as a whole.

Implications under the GEM Listing Rules of Renewal
of Tenancy Agreement of Tsuen Wan Shop 310:

In accordance with HKFRS 16 “lLease”, the Company
recognises the value of the right-of-use assets on its
consolidated statement of financial position in connection
with the lease of the said premises. Accordingly, the
Renewal of Tenancy Agreement of Tsuen Wan Shop 310
is regarded as acquisition of asset by the Group for the
purpose of the GEM Listing Rules.

As the applicable percentage ratios (as defined under Rule
19.07 of the GEM Listing Rules) for the lease transaction
contemplated under the Renewal of Tenancy Agreement of
Tsuen Wan Shop 310 exceed 5% but are below 25%, such
transaction constituted a discloseable transaction of the
Company, and is subject to reporting and announcement
requirements but exempt from shareholders’ approval
requirement.

For details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 2 May 2023.
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(ii) Renewal of Tenancy Agreement of Kowloon Bay

Shop:

On 5 June 2023 (after trading hours), Urban Lifestyle
Limited (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company)
as tenant finalised the renewal terms with MegaBox
Development Company Limited as landlord to renew the
existing tenancy agreement for operation of retail store
of retail business of the Group (the “Renewal of Tenancy
Agreement of Kowloon Bay Shop”).

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS & 2 [Z & &8 & 2 1T

(i) EFNEER2EHERS

RZE_=ZFARAB (RH5KEEE)
Urban Lifestyle Limited (A" A & & & M B
‘A 7)) {E &M F EEMegaBox Development
Company Limited (X)) EEE G
NEEREHERRIEASEET =6
(¥ EEER(EENEER HER
=) e

Principal terms of Renewal of Tenanicz/ Agreement of Kowloon Bay Shop:
BENEEHHEEBHNEZKA -

Effective date:
B

Parties:
RSV

Premises:
e

Term:

THE

The aggregate value of

consideration payable:

FERERIE :

23 June 2023
—E-=H#XAZ+=H

(i)  MegaBox Development Company Limited as landlord; and
(i)  MegaBox Development Company Limited (fE &% F) : &

(i) Urban Lifestyle Limited as tenant.
(i)  Urban Lifestyle Limited ({fE&TF)

The landlord is a company incorporated in Hong Kong and principally engaged in
property investment. The landlord is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Kerry Properties
Limited, the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of Stock Exchange (stock
code: 683).

XX A RMREBTMA LN FEREVEREER -ZTREEERE
RAGBIZEZEMBLRF - RO ER L™ (RGH KR : 683) -

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief having made
all reasonable enquiries, the landlord of the premises and its respective ultimate
beneficial owner(s) are the Independent Third Parties.

;é%%%%ﬁ%ﬂﬁﬁ% CWEBRFTEEREEHR EFRAZENRRESEBALAR
B \/ 55 — °

Unit 6 on Level 5 of MegaBox, Enterprise Square Five, 38 Wang Chiu Road,
Kowloon Bay, Kowloon, Hong Kong
BE JUBRE R R 38385k (b X /& 155 HIMegaBox 512 65 i

Two years from 23 June 2023 to 22 June 2025 (both days inclusive).
BT NA+-H2_Z-_RFA-T_H (BEEEMX) AHME -

Not less than HK$1,992,000, being the monthly basic rental in aggregate for the
term of two years (exclusive of rates, air-conditioning and management charges,
promotion levy and all other outgoings).

TMEF1,992,0008 T - IRNFHBAGAEARAHS LB (TEEEZEN =ARER
E HEERAMAML) -

Tenant shall pay the lease payment on monthly basis by internal resources.

HPAEBANERZAXNBEERE -

The tenant is also subject to monthly additional turnover rental, being an amount
by which 15% of the monthly gross receipt(s) of the tenant’s business at the said
premises during and for the rental payable month (without any deduction) exceeds
the basic rental.

MEPTMAESNEAGENEZEBH: HPRESENAOZMERBREBLRNSE
FRBKANI5% (NEERAR) BEEB A ERHESHNESHE -

SHPAEEERERAT 2023/24F K
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS E 12 [E &1 3 L 2 1T

Reasons for and benefits of Renewal of Tenancy
Agreement of Kowloon Bay Shop:

Due to nature of its retail business in Hong Kong, the
Group has to enter into tenancy agreements for leasing of
retail stores from time to time. It would be beneficial to
lease the said premises as it will enable the Group to secure
its stable operation at the said premises without incurring
additional costs and expenses in identifying, renovating and
relocating to other retail store and ensure that there will be
no disruption to the operations, business and growth of the
Group.

The terms of Renewal of Tenancy Agreement of Kowloon
Bay Shop (including the rental charge) were determined
after arm’s length negotiations between the parties and
with reference to the open market rent of comparable
properties in the nearby districts and the rental payment
made by the Group under the existing tenancy agreements.
The Board considers that the terms of Renewal of Tenancy
Agreement of Kowloon Bay Shop were entered into on
normal commercial terms, in the ordinary and usual course
of business of the Group and are fair and reasonable and
in the interests of the Company and the shareholders as a
whole.

Implications under the GEM Listing Rules of Renewal
of Tenancy Agreement of Kowloon Bay Shop:

In accordance with HKFRS 16 “lLease”, the Company
recognises the value of the right-of-use assets on its
consolidated statement of financial position in connection
with the lease of the said premises. Accordingly, the
Renewal of Tenancy Agreement of Kowloon Bay Shop
is regarded as acquisition of asset by the Group for the
purpose of the GEM Listing Rules.

As the applicable percentage ratios (as defined under Rule
19.07 of the GEM Listing Rules) for the lease transaction
contemplated under the Renewal of Tenancy Agreement of
Kowloon Bay Shop exceed 5% but are below 25%, such
transaction constitutes a discloseable transaction of the
Company, and is subject to reporting and announcement
requirements but exempt from shareholders’ approval
requirement.

For details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 5 June 2023.

E Lighting Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2023/24

BENEEHZHE a2 E il K#E
HRNRNEBRKETERH ZMEER &
SEATKHEETEERTLHEERE -
HEZVEREAREZSE  EAKER
ZENERSRELE MITERIR
KERBBERTEEMRNELBINKA
RAX LHEEARNEENEE XHRE
RGP -

BEENEEBZHEERREZGR(REHA
&) AR NS ESEWIH R ALY
EZAAMSHEE RAKREREREEE
BHEXNZEHERAFEREE -EFQ
RREBENEEHBEBE ZGRDIR
AEEAEER - BREFBREPR -RAR
GRETY - BAFARE INEARE R
BRE BB -

BENEEHZHE H#ERGEM LT
MANE 252 -
REFEMBRELENFIRAE] - &
RARFAEMBRARAEREEZY
XEHNERABEENEE - Bt RE
GEMEMRE  EENEEFH 2 HERHH
WBREAEEEBEE -

HREBNEEG 2 HERE TETZHE
VWX ZEAEDLE(EERAGEMET
#HBIZE19.0715) B iB5%E K K25% * #%
RPERANRBIZABATHERS  HABT
HREASHTEEERCETRELER

T o

HEF2HANARRBEHRR/R T _=F
NARBEHRE -



(iii) Renewal of Tenancy Agreement of Tsuen Wan

Shop 312:

On 5 July 2023 (after trading hours), Urban Lifestyle Limited
(a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) as tenant
finalised the renewal terms with CDW Building Limited
as landlord to renew the existing tenancy agreement for
operation of retail store of retail business of the Group
“Renewal of Tenancy Agreement of Tsuen Wan Shop

(the
3127,

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS & 2 [Z & &8 & 2 1T

(iii) EEZEINNE2HERHS -
RZE_=ZFtAAA (RHKEEE) -
Urban Lifestyle Limited (R A & 2 &K E A
A1) {E 2 P ECDW Building Limited (%
FIRETEEKT UNEEREHEH:
EAEEETEEXB 2 EEEH([EE
EE3N2E o HERZE] -

Principal terms of Renewal of Tenancy Agreement of Tsuen Wan Shop 312:

BELE3 2 HE 3

5% ) Z X

Effective date:
EHE

Parties:
HESVRE

Premises:
E

Term:

HE

The aggregate value of

consideration payable:

e RERE :

1 September 2023
—T-=%NnHA—H

(i)  CDW Building Limited as landlord; and
(i)  CDW Building Limited fE&%F) : &

(i) Urban Lifestyle Limited as tenant.
(i) Urban Lifestyle Limited ({E BT F) -

The landlord is a company incorporated in Hong Kong and principally engaged in
property investment. The landlord is a wholly-owned subsidiary of HKR International
Limited, the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of Stock Exchange (stock
code: 480).

EXTARRHRBBTMALANLRA FEREVEREER - ZFREFPHEHN
BREEERARICEZEWBAR - HRGORBERZMMER B/ (BRMHAKSE - 480)

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief having made
all reasonable enquiries, the landlord of the premises and its respective ultimate
beneficial owner(s) are the Independent Third Parties.

NBREEHAMAE TRBMASEESH XX NARREZEAEAARBILE
—h-

Shop No. 312 of 3rd Floor, CDW Building, 388 Castle Peak Road,
Tsuen Wan, Hong Kong
FREETILARE388E R AN EIE31257 5

Three years from 1 September 2023 to 31 August 2026 (both days inclusive).
BE_Z_=FANA-BZ_Z-_R"ENA=+—HB(BEEERX) RH=F -

Not less than HK$2,555,000, being the monthly basic rental in aggregate for the
term of three years (exclusive of rates, air-conditioning and management charges,
promotion levy and all other outgoings).

TMER2,555,0008 7T A =FHAHAEAZAELRH(TE
B HEEEANHMXIL) -

REM - =R NEE

Tenant shall pay the lease payment on monthly basis by internal resources.

HPEAEBANBERZASNHEERNE -

SHPAEEERERAT 2023/24F K
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS & 12 [Z 5 &m &

Reasons for and benefits of Renewal of Tenancy
Agreement of Tsuen Wan Shop 312:

Due to nature of its retail business in Hong Kong, the
Group has to enter into tenancy agreements for leasing of
retail stores from time to time. It would be beneficial to
lease the said premises as it will enable the Group to secure
its stable operation at the said premises without incurring
additional costs and expenses in identifying, renovating and
relocating to other retail store and ensure that there will be
no disruption to the operations, business and growth of the
Group.

The terms of Renewal of Tenancy Agreement of Tsuen Wan
Shop 312 (including the rental charge) were determined
after arm’s length negotiations between the parties and
with reference to the open market rent of comparable
properties in the nearby districts and the rental payment
made by the Group under the existing tenancy agreements.
The Board considers that the terms of Renewal of Tenancy
Agreement of Tsuen Wan Shop 312 were entered into on
normal commercial terms, in the ordinary and usual course
of business of the Group and are fair and reasonable and
in the interests of the Company and the shareholders as a
whole.

Implications under the GEM Listing Rules of Renewal
of Tenancy Agreement of Tsuen Wan Shop 312:

In accordance with HKFRS 16 “lLease”, the Company
recognises the value of the right-of-use assets on its
consolidated statement of financial position in connection
with the lease of the said premises. Accordingly, the
Renewal of Tenancy Agreement of Tsuen Wan Shop 312
is regarded as acquisition of asset by the Group for the
purpose of the GEM Listing Rules.

As the applicable percentage ratios (as defined under Rule
19.07 of the GEM Listing Rules) for the lease transaction
contemplated under the Renewal of Tenancy Agreement of
Tsuen Wan Shop 312 exceed 5% but are below 25%, such
transaction constitutes a discloseable transaction of the
Company, and is subject to reporting and announcement
requirements but exempt from shareholders’ approval
requirement.

For details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 5 July 2023.
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(iv) Renewal of Tenancy Agreement of Wanchai Shop

56:

On 17 January 2024 (after trading hours), Element Lighting
Design Limited (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company)
as tenant finalised the renewal terms with Garwick
Development Limited as landlord to renew the existing
tenancy agreement for operation of retail store of retail
business of the Group (the “Renewal of Tenancy Agreement

of Wanchai Shop 56").

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS & 2 [Z & &8 & 2 1T

(iv) EFBFS6M 2 HEWH =R

R-FE-_HE-—A++RA (RHERE) -
RARFERRA (RA2BI2EMBARR)
ERBEFEMEZRRARAR (XX)BE
BEEGR UEBEBRAHEERHRIEAEE
ETEEEB 2 TEEMH ([EEEF565%
Mo HEwHZE])

Principal terms of Renewal of Tenancy Agreement of Wanchai Shop 56:
BEEFS6TRBHER RN EZIRK

Effective date:
EBE

Parties:

HESVIE

Premises:

EX

Term:

HE

The aggregate value of

consideration payable:

R ERE:

8 March 2024
—EF-mFE=A\H

(i)  Garwick Development Limited as landlord; and

(i) MEBRERAAUEREE) K

(i) Element Lighting Design Limited as tenant.

(i) WARFBERAFUER/ER) -

The landlord is a company incorporated in Hong Kong and principally engaged in
property investment.
FXR—RREBETMALNRAE  FTEREWERE -

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief having made all
reasonable enquiries, the landlord of the premises and their respective ultimate
beneficial owners (Miss Liu Tong Rita, Mr. Liu Wai Lun Jeffrey and Miss Liu Wai Fun
Jennifer) are the Independent Third Parties.

NEEEMAMGE  TKRBMEAREEN X VESRKEAA(BSZEEX L
BREBAERBERESZL) REAZBNREEREAALDRBILE=T -

G/F & Cockloft, 56 Morrison Hill Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong
BAEFERE LB T REE

Two years from 8 March 2024 to 7 March 2026 (both days inclusive).
—ENF=ZANBE_Z-_RF-A+H(BEEEMRKX) BHRF -

Not less than HK$2,025,000, being the monthly basic rental in aggregate for the
term of two years (exclusive of rates, air-conditioning and management charges,
promotion levy and all other outgoings).

MEP2,025,0008 7T - IMFHEBAGAELRAES LB (T EEEZMN  =HANRER
E HEEAKEMIEH) -

Tenant shall pay the lease payment on monthly basis by internal resources.

MPAEBAMBERRANEERIE -

SHPAEEERERAT 2023/24F K
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS & 2 JE &1 &8 M 2

Reasons for and benefits of Renewal of Tenancy
Agreement of Wanchai Shop 56:

Due to nature of its retail business in Hong Kong, the Group has
to enter into tenancy agreements for leasing of retail stores from
time to time. It would be beneficial to lease the said premises
as it will enable the Group to secure its stable operation at the
said premises without incurring additional costs and expenses
in identifying, renovating and relocating to other retail store
and ensure that there will be no disruption to the operations,
business and growth of the Group.

The terms of Renewal of Tenancy Agreement of Wanchai Shop
56 (including the rental charge) were determined after arm’s
length negotiations between the parties and with reference to
the open market rent of comparable properties in the nearby
districts and the rental payment made by the Group under the
existing tenancy agreement. The Board considers that the terms
of Renewal of Tenancy Agreement of Wanchai Shop 56 were
entered into on normal commercial terms, in the ordinary and
usual course of business of the Group and are fair and reasonable
and in the interests of the Company and the shareholders as a
whole.

Implications under the GEM Listing Rules of Renewal of
Tenancy Agreement of Wanchai Shop 56:

In accordance with HKFRS 16 “Lease”, the Company recognises
the value of the right-of-use assets on its consolidated statement
of financial position in connection with the lease of the said
premises. Accordingly, the Renewal of Tenancy Agreement of
Wanchai Shop 56 is regarded as acquisition of asset by the
Group for the purpose of the GEM Listing Rules.

As the applicable percentage ratios (as defined under Rule 19.07
of the GEM Listing Rules) for the lease transaction contemplated
under the Renewal of Tenancy Agreement of Wanchai Shop 56
exceed 5% but are below 25%, such transaction constitutes
a discloseable transaction of the Company, and is subject to
reporting and announcement requirements but exempt from
shareholders’ approval requirement.

For details, please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated 17 January 2024.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS & 2 [Z & &8 & 2 1T

Save as otherwise disclosed, there were neither significant
investments held as at 31 March 2024 nor material acquisitions
and disposals of subsidiaries during the Financial Year, and there
is no plan for material investments or capital assets as at the date
of this annual report.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had cash and bank balances of
approximately HK$5,894,000 (2023: HK$9,938,000). The gearing
ratio of the Group, calculated as total bank borrowings over total
equity, was nil as at 31 March 2024 (2023: Nil), as the Group
mainly financed the operations from internally generated funds
and had no bank borrowings as at 31 March 2024 (2023: Nil).

The Group closely monitors the cash flow position to ensure
that the Group has sufficient working capital available to fulfill
its operational requirement. The Group takes into account the
trade receivables, trade payables, cash and bank balances,
administrative and capital expenditures to prepare cash flow
forecast to forecast the Group’s future liquidity.

TREASURY POLICIES

The Group adopts a conservative treasury policy. As financial
management, sales proceed is immediately deposit to reputable
and creditworthy banks to ensure security, liquidity and for
meeting future funding requirements.

BREMBEEN RZT-_MF=A=+—8#
BEREEMNEARE AMBRFETEHNERQ
AMERKRBEREESE RRAFEHRE  #
BHMEAREXBABLAEENE -

MEMR VK ER
RZE-_WmE=RA=+—H" ZK*i@mfﬁi
N 4R 17 45 #42 495,894,0008 T (ZE - =& :
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A=+—HBA8 (== :8) ' REAR
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS & 2 JE &1 &8 M 2

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The capital of the Group comprises only ordinary shares. As at 31
March 2024, there were 451,035,713 ordinary shares in issue.

Total equity attributable to owners of the Company amounted
to approximately HK$8,689,000 as at 31 March 2024 (2023:
HK$20,200,000).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2024, save as otherwise disclosed, the Group did
not have any material contingent liabilities (2023: Nil).

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

The Group undertakes certain purchase transactions denominated
in Hong Kong dollar, Euro, United States dollar and Renminbi,
hence exposure to exchange rate fluctuations arises. We are
mainly exposed to foreign exchange fluctuation of the Euro
and Renminbi against Hong Kong dollar, as Hong Kong dollar
is pegged to United States dollar. The Group currently does
not have a foreign currency hedging policy. However, the
management of the Group monitors foreign exchange exposure
and will consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure
should the need arises. The Directors are of the view that the
transactional exposure of the Group in currencies other than the
functional currencies is maintained at an acceptable level.

CHARGES ON GROUP ASSETS

As at 31 March 2024, there was no charges on the Group's
assets (2023: Nil).

SEGMENT INFORMATION
The Group’s segmental information is set out in note 6 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS & 2 [Z & &8 & 2 1T

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
As at 31 March 2024, the Group did not have any significant
capital commitments (2023: Nil).

DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend for
the Financial Year (2023: Nil).

EMPLOYEE INFORMATION

Total remuneration of the Group for the Financial Year
(including (i) Directors’ emoluments, (ii) salaries to staff and (iii)
MPF contributions) was approximately HK$17,827,000 (2023:
HK$20,212,000).

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had 47 employees (2023: 46
employees).

REMUNERATION POLICIES

The remuneration payable to the employees includes salaries and
allowances. The Group’s remuneration policies are formulated
based on the performance of individual employees and are
reviewed regularly. Subject to the Group's profitability, the
Group may also provide a discretionary bonus to employees as an
incentive for their contribution to the Group.

=

R-ZEBE-_NFE=ZA=+—H Z"EBITELTM
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

I1

EX

=REREEE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Hue Kwok Chiu, aged 57, was appointed as an executive
Director on 26 February 2014. Mr. Hue Kwok Chiu is the
chairman of the Board and head of human resources department.
Mr. Hue Kwok Chiu is also a director of several subsidiaries of
the Company. Mr. Hue Kwok Chiu is responsible for the business
development, operations and business expansion plans and
human resources activities of the Group. Mr. Hue Kwok Chiu is
the younger brother of Mr. Hui Kwok Wing and Mr. Hui Kwok
Keung Raymond, the executive Directors.

Mr. Hue Kwok Chiu has over 32 years of business management
experience and obtained a Bachelor of social sciences degree
from the University of Hong Kong in December 1989.

Mr. Hui Kwok Keung Raymond, aged 61, was appointed as
an executive Director on 26 February 2014. Mr. Hui Kwok Keung
Raymond is one of the founders and chief executive officer of
the Group. Mr. Hui Kwok Keung Raymond is also a director
of several subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Hui Kwok Keung
Raymond is responsible for the business development, operations
and devising market strategy and business expansion plans of the
Group. Mr. Hui Kwok Keung Raymond is the younger brother
of Mr. Hui Kwok Wing and the elder brother of Mr. Hue Kwok
Chiu, the executive Directors. Mr. Hui Kwok Keung Raymond
is the director of Time Prestige Ventures Limited, a substantial
shareholder of the Company.

Mr. Hui Kwok Keung Raymond has over 32 years of experience
in lighting and furniture retails business in Hong Kong and
obtained a Bachelor of arts degree from the University of Hong
Kong in November 1985 and a Master of design degree from the
Hong Kong Polytechnic University in November 2010. Mr. Hui
Kwok Keung Raymond also obtained fellow of management and
business administration from the Professional Validation Council
of Hong Kong Industries in September 2023.

Mr. Hui Kwok Wing, aged 62, was appointed as an executive
Director on 19 June 2015. Mr. Hui Kwok Wing is the chief
creative officer of the Group and responsible for the business
development of the Group. Mr. Hui Kwok Wing is the elder
brother of Mr. Hui Kwok Keung Raymond, the executive Director,
and Mr. Hue Kwok Chiu, the executive Director.

Mr. Hui Kwok Wing has over 31 years of experience in product
design, design management and retail business management and
obtained Bachelor of arts degree in industrial design from the
Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 1989.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT 2= N 5K & 12 [E

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Chung Wai Man (“Mr. Chung”), aged 60, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director on 11 September
2014. Mr. Chung is responsible for providing independent
judgement on the issue of strategy, performance, resources and
standard of conduct of the Group.

Mr. Chung obtained a Bachelor’s degree (honours) in social
sciences from the University of Hong Kong in December 1989
and a Master’s degree in international business management
from the City University of Hong Kong in November 1998.

Mr. Chung became a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants in April 1995 and a fellow member
of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants in the
United Kingdom in November 1999.

Mr. Chung has around 34 years of experience in accounting,
taxation and finance. Mr. Chung is currently an independent
non-executive director of Net Pacific Financial Holdings
Limited (stock code: 5QY), the shares of which are listed on
the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited, and an
independent non-executive director of Shandong Fengxiang Co.,
Ltd. (stock code: 9977), the shares of which are listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
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Mr. Leung Wai Chuen (“Mr. Leung”), aged 58, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director on 11 September
2014. Mr. Leung is responsible for providing independent
judgement on the issue of strategy, performance, resources and
standard of conduct of the Group.

Mr. Leung obtained a Bachelor’'s degree in social sciences from
the University of Hong Kong in December 1989, a Master’s
degree in business administration jointly awarded by the
University of Wales and the University of Manchester in July 2001
and a Master’s degree in business (logistics management) from
Royal Melbourne Institute of Technology (now known as RMIT
University) in September 2007.

Mr. Leung is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants, a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants of the United Kingdom and
an associate of the Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute
(formerly known as The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered
Secretaries) and The Chartered Governance Institute respectively.

Mr. Leung has over 33 years’ experience in auditing, accounting,
financial management and company secretarial matters. He
worked for and held senior positions in various listed companies
in Hong Kong and was responsible for their finance, accounting
and company secretarial functions. Mr. Leung is currently the
company secretary of Grand Ming Group Holdings Limited (stock
code: 1271), and an independent non-executive director of
Fourace Industries Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 1455),
the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange.
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Ms. Wong Long Yan Milka (“Ms. Wong”), aged 37, was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 1 June
2023. Ms. Wong is responsible for providing independent
judgement on the issue of strategy, performance, resources and
standard of conduct of the Group.

Ms. Wong has over 10 years of practice in the legal profession in
Hong Kong. Ms. Wong is the founder and currently a managing
partner in ZM Lawyers. Further, Ms. Wong has served as a board
committee member and director of ZM Charity Fund since 2020,
as well as a legal consultant in Carbon Mining Technology
Limited since 2021.

Ms. Wong obtained her Bachelor of Laws Degree with minor in
Social Work and Social Administration from The University of
Hong Kong in November 2010. Ms. Wong has officially admitted
as a qualified solicitor in Hong Kong since December 2013 and is
a member of the Law Society of Hong Kong.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Chou Hing Yan Stephen (“Mr. Chou”), aged 61, was an
executive Director from 26 February 2014 to 29 February 2016
and employed as senior business manager on 1 March 2016.
Mr. Chou is one of the founders of the Group and responsible
for the business, operations and marketing affairs of the Group.

Mr. Chou has over 20 years of experience in lighting and
furniture retails business in Hong Kong and obtained a Bachelor’s
degree in commerce from McMaster University of Canada in June
1987.

Mr. Wong Peng Lin (“Mr. Wong”), aged 52, is the operation
manager of the Group. Mr. Wong joined the Group on 1
December 2003. He is primarily responsible for supervising the
day to day operation of the retail stores in Hong Kong. Mr. Wong
has over 19 years of experience in lighting retail business in the
Group.

Mr. Chang David (“Mr. Chang”), aged 54, is the product &
logistics manager of the Group. Mr. Chang joined the Group on
3 October 2012, he is primarily responsible for overseeing the
product and logistics of the Group. Mr. Chang is also responsible
to oversee compliance with safety requirements of all lighting
and electrical products offered for sale at the retail stores,
monitor the latest development on safety requirements and
enhance closer communications between us and the suppliers in
respect of the safety and certification requirements for lighting
and electrical products in Hong Kong. Mr. Chang has over 27
years of experience in lighting business in Hong Kong.

Mr. Tang Lap Ming (“Mr. Tang”), aged 38, is the deputy
financial controller and company secretary of the Group.
Mr. Tang joined the Group on 17 November 2021, he is primarily
responsible for overseeing the financial and daily secretarial
matters of the Group.

Mr. Tang graduated from Hong Kong Lingnan University with
Bachelor of Business Administration (Honours) and is a member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
since January 2001. He has around 17 years of experience in
accounting, auditing, company secretarial and tax consultancy
field.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to achieving high standards
of corporate governance to safeguard the interests of the
shareholders of the Company and enhance its corporate value.
The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on
the principles and code provisions as set out in part 2 of the
Corporate Governance Code in Appendix C1 to the GEM Listing
Rules (the “CG Code”). To the best knowledge of the Board, the
Company has complied with the code provisions in the CG Code
during the Financial Year.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct for dealing in
securities of the Company by the Directors in accordance with
the required standard of dealings as set out in the Rules 5.48
to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules (the “Required Standard of
Dealings”). The Company has made specific enquiries with all
Directors and the Directors confirmed that they have complied
with the Required Standard of Dealings and the code of conduct
for dealing in securities of the Company during the Financial
Year.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition of the Board of Directors

Up to the date of this annual report, the Board comprises
three executive Directors and three independent non-executive
Directors. The composition of the Board was as follows:

Executive Directors

Hue Kwok Chiu (Chairman)

Hui Kwok Keung Raymond (Chief Executive Officer)
Hui Kwok Wing (Chief Creative Officer)

Independent non-executive Directors
Chung Wai Man

Leung Wai Chuen

Wong Long Yan Milka (appointed on 1 June 2023)
Yeung Mo Sheung Ann (resigned on 1 June 2023)

Save as disclosed in this report, there is no financial, business,
family or other material/relevant relationship among members of
the Board.
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Functions of the Board

The principal function of the Board is to consider and approve
the overall business plans and strategies of the Group, develop
and implement the corporate governance function, monitor
the implementation of these policies and strategies and the
management of the Company. The Group has an independent
management team, which is led by a team of senior management
with substantial experience and expertise in the Group’s business
and the Board delegates the authority and responsibility for
implementing the Group's policies and strategies.

Board Meetings and Board Practices

The Directors can attend meetings in person or through other
means of electronic communication in accordance with the
articles of association of the Company (the “Articles”). All
minutes of the Board meetings were recorded in sufficient detail
the matters considered by the Board and the decisions reached.

EEEHNRAE
SEENIEREREELFUARENER
B BIREE CEERBENERNNT
A Ko 8 7R % B TR 7% R BR A0 SRS Y R 1T B B 2R
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m%ﬁ&aﬁ% B EEBK  ZEKH
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During the Financial Year, five Board meetings and one RABBFE B TEBEEErAZE 5F¢
general meeting were held in addition to circulation of written ZRBiITRAXEFe@mNL " ARERXE - UTRE
resolutions. Details of the attendance of Directors are as follows: BEEHELENS
Attendance
i
General meeting Board meetings
BRAE EEEER
Executive Directors
BITES
Hue Kwok Chiu (Chairman) 171 5/5
TR S (E/E)
Hui Kwok Keung Raymond (Chief Executive Officer) 171 5/5
ST B (7T ECAEZL)
Hui Kwok Wing (Chief Creative Officer) 171 5/5
TRl (B /E R B A
Independent Non-executive Directors
BYKHITES
Chung Wai Man I7Al 5/5
{8
Leung Wai Chuen LAl 5/5
2ER
Yeung Mo Sheung Ann (resigned on 1 June 2023) N/A N/A
BRER-ZZE-_=FHA—HET)
Wong Long Yan Milka (appointed on 1 June 2023) 0/1 4/4
ERAM(R_E_=FF—HEZF)
According to the code provision C.2.7 of the CG Code, the #HRIEMPHXEATAEC2.7IETFEEN  EFE

chairman should at least annually hold meetings with the
independent non-executive directors without the presence of
other directors. The Company complied with the code provision
C.2.7 of the CG Code that the chairman of the Board held
meetings with the independent non-executive Directors without
the presence of other Directors.
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Directors’ Appointment, Re-election and Removal

Two executive Directors, namely Mr. Hue Kwok Chiu and
Mr. Hui Kwok Keung Raymond, have entered into a service
agreement with the Company for a fixed term of two years from
11 September 2022, which may be terminated by not less than
three months’ written notice served by either party on the other,
and is subject to termination provisions therein and provisions on
retirement by rotation of Directors as set out in the Articles.

Two independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chung
Wai Man and Mr. Leung Wai Chuen, have entered into a service
agreement with the Company for a fixed term of two years from
11 September 2022, which may be terminated by not less than
three months’ written notice served by either party on the other,
and is subject to termination provisions therein and provisions on
retirement by rotation of Directors as set out in the Articles.

Ms. Wong Long Yan Milka, the independent non-executive
Director, has entered into a service agreement with the Company
for a fixed term of two years from 1 June 2023, which may
be terminated by not less than three months’ written notice
served by either party on the other, and is subject to termination
provisions therein and provisions on retirement by rotation of
Directors as set out in the Articles.

Mr. Hui Kwok Wing, the executive Director, has entered into a
service agreement with the Company for a fixed term of two
years from 19 June 2023, which may be terminated by not less
than three months’ written notice served by either party on
the other, and is subject to termination provisions therein and
provisions on retirement by rotation of Directors as set out in the
Articles.

By virtue of article 83 of the Articles, the Directors shall have the
power from time to time and at any time to appoint any person
as a Director either to fill a casual vacancy on the Board or as
an addition to the existing Board. Any Director appointed by
the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office until the first
general meeting of the Company after his appointment and be
subject to re-election at such meeting. Any Director appointed by
the Board as an addition to the existing Board shall hold office
only until the next following annual general meeting of the
Company and shall then be eligible for re-election.

In compliance with the code provision B.2.2 of the CG Code,
every director should be subject to retirement by rotation at least
once every three years. Furthermore, pursuant to article 84 of
the Articles, at each annual general meeting one-third of the
Directors for the time being, (or, if their number is not a multiple
of three (3), the number nearest to but not less than one third)
shall retire from office by rotation provided that every Director
shall be subject to retirement at an annual general meeting at
least once every three years. A retiring Director shall be eligible
for re-election and shall continue to act as a Director throughout
the meeting at which he retires.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

The Company has three independent non-executive Directors to
comply with Rule 5.05 of the GEM Listing Rules. Furthermore,
among the three independent non-executive Directors,
Mr. Chung and Mr. Leung have appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise as required by Rule 5.05(2) of the GEM Listing
Rules. In accordance with Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules,
the Company has received from each of its independent
non-executive Directors the written confirmation of his/her
independence. The Company, based on such confirmations,
considers Mr. Chung, Mr. Leung and Ms. Wong to be
independent.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

According to the code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the
roles of the chairman and the chief executive should be separate
and should not be performed by the same individual. During
the Financial Year, the role of the chairman of the Board is
performed by Mr. Hue Kwok Chiu and the office of the chief
executive officer of the Company is performed by Mr. Hui Kwok
Keung Raymond. The code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code has
been complied with.

Delegation of Powers

The Board delegates day-to-day operations of the Group to
executive Directors and management of the Company with
department heads responsible for different aspects of the
business/ functions, while reserving certain key matters in making
strategic decision for its approval. When the Board delegates
aspects of its management and administration functions to
management, it gives clear directions as to the powers of
management, in particular, with respect to the circumstances
where management need to report back and obtain prior
approval from the Board before making decisions or entering into
any commitments on behalf of the Company.

Continuing Professional Development

According to the code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code,
all directors should participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills
to ensure their contribution to the board remains informed and
relevant. The Company has arranged and/or introduced some
director’s training courses and has provided monthly financial
highlight, business update of the Group and training materials
for the Directors to develop and explore their knowledge and
skills.

During the Financial Year, all Directors have participated in

continuous professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills.
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Directors’ and Officers’ Liabilities

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance covering
the liabilities in respect of legal action against the Directors and
officers of the Company that may arise out in the corporate
activities which has been complied with the CG Code. The
insurance coverage is reviewed on an annual basis.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company (the "Audit Committee”)
was established by the Board on 11 September 2014 with written
terms of reference in compliance with Rules 5.28 and 5.29 of
the GEM Listing Rules and code provision C.3.3 of the CG Code.
The Audit Committee currently comprises three independent
non-executive Directors and is chaired by Mr. Leung. The other
members are Mr. Chung and Ms. Wong. The primary duties of
the Audit Committee are mainly to oversee the relationship with
the Company’s external auditor, review the Company’s financial
information and oversee the Company’s financial reporting
system, risk management and internal control systems.

The Audit Committee had reviewed the consolidated results
of the Group for the Financial Year with the management and
is of the view that such results complied with the applicable
accounting standards, the requirements under the GEM Listing
Rules and other applicable legal requirements, and that adequate
disclosures had been made.
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Four Audit Committee meetings were held in addition to B TEEZERZE ERZEeRNATHE
circulation of written resolutions during the Financial Year. ER{T T AC% CERNEXLZTEC L=
Details of the attendance of the Audit Committee meetings are [EXAFFBWT :
as follows:
Members Attendance
da Hi g =
Leung Wai Chuen (Chairman) 4/4
RER(FE)
Chung Wai Man 4/4
R
Yeung Mo Sheung Ann (resigned on 1 June 2023) 11
BEBEW-_E-=FA—HET)
Wong Long Yan Milka (appointed on 1 June 2023) 3/3
EPAM(R_ZE=-_Z=ZF~F—HEZT)
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The following is a summary of work performed by the Audit
Committee during the Financial Year:

1. Financial Reporting

o reviewed the audited consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 March 2023 in conjunction
with the external auditor and the unaudited financial
statements for 3 months ended 30 June 2023 and 6
months ended 30 September 2023;

o reviewed the accounting principles and practices
adopted by the Group;

o reviewed the auditing and financial reporting matters,
including the key audit matters of the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2023 which are set out in the annual report of the
Company for the year ended 31 March 2023;

o reviewed the audit planning for the year ended 31
March 2024 in conjunction with the external auditor;

2. External Auditor

° reviewed and approved the remuneration of external
auditors of the Company for the year ended 31 March
2024,

° reviewed the re-appointment of external auditor
of the Company and was satisfied with its work,
its independence, and its objectivity, and therefore
recommended the re-appointment of BDO Limited
(which had indicated its willingness to continue
in office) as the Group's external auditor for
shareholders’ approval at the 2023 annual general
meeting;
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3. Internal Audit

o reviewed and ensured that the internal audit function,
performed by an independent external consulting
firm (the “Internal Control Adviser”), is adequately
resourced and has appropriate standing within the
Group; and

4. Risk Management and Internal Controls

o reviewed the effectiveness of risk management and
internal control systems.

The Group’s risk management and internal control systems are
reviewed regularly by management. With the view of enhancing
the Group’s risk management and internal control systems,
during the Financial Year, the Company has engaged the Internal
Control Adviser to review the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems and recommend actions to improve the
Group's risk management and internal control systems.

Based on the review, the Audit Committee is of the view that
the Group’s risk management and internal control systems were
generally effective and in compliance with the requirements of
the code provision D.2.1 of the CG Code for the Financial Year
in all material respects.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The remuneration committee of the Company (the
“Remuneration Committee”) was established by the Board on 11
September 2014 with written terms of reference in compliance
with the CG Code. The Remuneration Committee currently
comprises three independent non-executive Directors and is
chaired by Mr. Chung. The other members are Mr. Leung and
Ms. Wong. The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee
are, amongst other things, to review and make recommendations
to the Board on the terms of remuneration packages, bonuses
and other compensation payable to the Directors and senior
management and to make recommendations to the Board on
the policy and structure for all remuneration of the Directors and
senior management.

Three Remuneration Committee meetings were held in addition
to circulation of written resolutions during the Financial Year.
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Details of the attendance of the Remuneration Committee [ERHFFEFHMT -

meetings are as follows:
Members Attendance
[2=] i E =
Chung Wai Man (Chairman) 3/3
EEN(FE)
Leung Wai Chuen 3/3
2ER
Yeung Mo Sheung Ann (resigned on 1 June 2023) N/A
BREWR-_ZE-_=ZFA—H&EMT
Wong Long Yan Milka (appointed on 1 June 2023) 2/2
EMRZEZ=FA—HEZHF)

REMUNERATION POLICY EN B SR

The remuneration policy of the Company (the “Remuneration
Policy”) was adopted by the Board and became effective on 1
April 2022.

Quality and committed staff are valuable assets contributing to
the Group’s success. To ensure the ability to attract and retain
talents, the Remuneration Policy is built upon the principles
of providing equitable and market-competitive remuneration
package that support the performance culture and enable the
achievement of strategic business goals. The Remuneration Policy
is, therefore, aiming at being competitive but not excessive.
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The remuneration structure is designed to ensure that there is an
appropriate balance of fixed and variable rewards, which include
both short-term and long-term incentives, and is weighted
towards performance-related elements that take into account
individual, functional and corporate performance. No one should
be involved in deciding his or her own remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee has been delegated to make
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of
individual executive Directors and non-executive Directors.

The executive Directors are entitled to the remuneration
packages including basic salaries and discretionary bonuses. The
remuneration for the non-executive Directors comprises directors’
fee.

The objective of remunerating non-executive Directors is to
ensure that there is an appropriate level of remuneration to
attract and retain experienced people of high caliber to oversee
the Group’s business and development. Their remuneration is
reviewed annually with reference to companies of comparable
business or scale, and any changes are subject to Board approval.

The Remuneration Committee shall review the Remuneration
Policy to ensure the effectiveness of the Remuneration Policy
annually. The Remuneration Committee shall discuss any revisions
that may be required, and recommend any such revisions to the
Board for consideration and approval.
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The remuneration packages of the Directors were determined by
reference to their experience, duties and responsibilities in the
Company and the prevailing market rate.

Subsequent to a review of Directors’ duties and responsibilities
in the Company as well as the market conditions, the executive
Directors’ remunerations were approved and revised by the Board
with effect from 1 January 2024. The remuneration of Mr. Hue
Kwok Chiu was changed to HK$487,200 per annum. The
remuneration of Mr. Hui Kwok Keung Raymond was changed to
HK$1,680,000 per annum. The remuneration of Mr. Hui Kwok
Wing was changed to HK$378,000 per annum.

The share option scheme of the Company (the “Share Option
Scheme”) was adopted by all shareholders by way of written
resolution on 11 September 2014. The terms of the Share
Option Scheme are in accordance with the provisions of Chapter
23 of the GEM Listing Rules. The purpose of the Share Option
Scheme is to attract and retain the best available personnel,
to provide additional incentive to employees (full-time and
part-time), directors, consultants, advisers, distributors,
contractors, suppliers, agents, customers, business partners or
service providers of the Group (the “Eligible Participants”) and to
promote the success of the business of the Group.

The Board is authorised, at its absolute discretion and subject to
the terms of the Share Option Scheme, to grant options to the
Eligible Participants to subscribe for the shares of the Company.

The Company believes that by offering the Eligible Participants a
shareholding stake in the Company, the interests of the Eligible
Participants and the Company become aligning and thereby the
Eligible Participants have additional incentives to improve the
Company’s performance.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S REMUNERATION

Senior management’s remuneration payment of the Group for
the Financial Year falls within the following band:

B 4 1 B 2
REAMBREEINSREBREHMTFUTEH
:

Number of
individuals

ATHEE

Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ 21,000,000/ 7T

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Board is empowered under the Articles to appoint any person
as a Director either to fill a casual vacancy on or, as an additional
member of the Board. Qualified candidates will be proposed to
the Board for consideration and the selection criteria are mainly
based on the assessment of their professional qualifications and
experience. The Board selects and recommends candidates for
directorship to the shareholders having regards to the balance of
skills and experience appropriate to the Group’s business.

The nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination
Committee”) was established by the Board on 11 September
2014 with written terms of reference in compliance with the
CG Code. The Nomination Committee currently comprises the
chairman of the Board and three independent non-executive
Directors and is chaired by Mr. Hue Kwok Chiu. The other
members are Mr. Chung, Mr. Leung and Ms. Wong. The primary
duties of the Nomination Committee are mainly responsible
for making recommendations to the Board on appointment of
Directors and succession planning for Directors.
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Two Nomination Committee meetings was held in addition KB T7EBEZMAEE RELZEEeN AP HE
to circulation of written resolutions during the Financial Year. E®R{ITTMAIAE% @E8NIEZZEeeS
Details of the attendance of the Nomination Committee meeting JFEZXHFIBW T :
are as follows:
Members Attendance
da Hi g &
Hue Kwok Chiu (Chairman) (appointed on 1 June 2023) 11
HRE (EFE)(RZE-_=ZFA—HEZT)
Leung Wai Chuen 2/2
RER
Chung Wai Man 2/2
EREX
Yeung Mo Sheung Ann (resigned on 1 June 2023) N/A

BRER-_ZE-_=FA—H&T
Wong Long Yan Milka (appointed on 1 June 2023)
HAMR_E_=F A —BEZHE)
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NOMINATION POLICY

The latest updated version of the nomination policy of the
Company (the “Nomination Policy”) was adopted by the Board
and became effective on 1 April 2022 and the Nomination
Committee is responsible for execution. A summary of the
selection criteria and procedures for recommendation and
selection of candidates for directorship is disclosed below.

Selection Criteria
In assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate, the
Nomination Committee shall consider the following factors:

(@) Reputation for integrity;
(b)  Accomplishment, skills and experience in the industry;

(c)  Meeting the "independence” criteria as set out in the
GEM Listing Rules and the composition of the Board is in
conformity with the provisions of the GEM Listing Rules
from time to time (where applicable);

(d) Commitment in respect of available time and relevant
interest; and

(e) Diversity in all its aspects, including but not limited
to, gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional qualification, skills, knowledge and length of
service.

These factors are for reference only, and not meant to be
exhaustive and decisive. The Nomination Committee has the
discretion to nominate any person, as it considers appropriate.

Proposed candidates will be asked to submit the necessary
personal information in a prescribed form, together with their
written consent to be appointed as a Director and to the
public disclosure of their personal data on any documents or
the relevant websites for the purpose of or in relation to their
standing for election as a Director.

The Nomination Committee may request candidates to provide
additional information and documents, if considered necessary.
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Nomination Procedures

The secretary of the Nomination Committee shall call a meeting
of the Nomination Committee, and invite nominations of
candidates from Board members if any, for consideration by the
Nomination Committee prior to its meeting. The Nomination
Committee may also put forward candidates who are not
nominated by Board members.

For filling a casual vacancy, the Nomination Committee shall
make recommendations for the Board’s consideration and
approval. For proposing candidates to stand for election
at a general meeting, the Nomination Committee shall
make nominations to the Board for its consideration and
recommendation.

Until the issue of the shareholder circular, the nominated persons
shall not assume that they have been proposed by the Board to
stand for election at the general meeting.

In order to provide information of the candidates nominated
by the Board to stand for election at a general meeting, and
to invite nominations from shareholders, a circular will be sent
to shareholders. The circular will set out the lodgment period
for shareholders to make the nominations. The names, brief
biographies (including qualifications and relevant experience),
independence, proposed remuneration and any other
information, as required pursuant to the applicable laws, rules
and regulations, of the proposed candidates will be included in
the circular to shareholders.

A shareholder can serve a notice to the secretary of the Company
within the lodgement period of its intention to propose a
resolution to elect a certain person as a Director, without the
Board’s recommendation or the Director’'s nomination, other
than those candidates set out in the shareholder circular. The
particulars of the candidates so proposed will be sent to all
shareholders for information by a supplementary circular.

A candidate is allowed to withdraw his candidature at any time
before the general meeting by serving a notice in writing to the
secretary of the Company.
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The Board shall have the final decision on all matters relating to
its recommendation of candidates to stand for election at any
general meeting.

As there may be more candidates than the vacancies available,
and the “gross-vote” method will be used to determine who
shall be elected as a Director, shareholder proposed resolutions
shall therefore take the same form as the resolutions proposed
for the candidates recommended by the Board.

The Nomination Committee will review the Nomination Policy
to ensure the effectiveness of the Nomination Policy annually.
The Nomination Committee will discuss any revisions that may
be required, and recommend any such revisions to the Board for
consideration and approval.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The latest updated version of the board diversity policy of the
Company (the “Board Diversity Policy”) was adopted by the
Board and became effective on 1 April 2022 and the Nomination
Committee is responsible for execution. The Board Diversity
Policy aims to set the approach to achieve diversity on the Board.
The Company seeks to achieve Board diversity through the
consideration of a number of aspects, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional
qualification, skills, knowledge and length of service. All Board
appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will
be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for
the benefits of diversity on the Board.

For the purpose of implementation of the Board Diversity Policy,
the following measurable objectives were adopted:

(i) The Company should comply with the requirements on
board composition in the GEM Listing Rules from time to
time.

(i) The number of independent non-executive Directors should
be not less than three and one-third of the Board.

(iii) At least one of the independent non-executive Directors

must have appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise.
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(iv) At least one director should be the professional or have
intensive experience of the industry on which the business
of the Group is.

(v)  The Board will not consider diversity to be achieved for a
single gender Board.

The Board has reviewed the Board Diversity Policy and its
effectiveness for the Financial Year. The Board has achieved the
measurable objectives under the Board Diversity Policy for the
Financial Year.

The Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity Policy
to ensure the effectiveness of the Board Diversity Policy and the
diversity profile of the Board, including the gender balance of the
Directors, and the progress on achieving the diversity objectives,
annually. The Nomination Committee will discuss any revisions
that may be required, and recommend any such revisions to the
Board for consideration and approval.

PROGRESS ON AND STATUS OF GENDER
DIVERSITY

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had 47 employees,
approximately 66.0% of whom were male and approximately
34.0% of whom were female.

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises
five male Directors and one female Director. The Nomination
Committee considered that the Board had achieved gender
diversity and possessed skill and expertise and a diverse mix
appropriate for the business of the Company and will review
the composition and diversity of the Board annually to ensure its
continued effectiveness.

Measures to develop a pipeline of potential successors to achieve
gender diversity:

o The Board will identify potential successors internally,
having regard to the industry expertise, leadership skills,
decision making capabilities, communication skills and
professional qualification of the staff.

° The Board will also consider outside sources such as head
hunter and referral.
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EO COMPLIANCE COMMITTEE

The Electricity Ordinance (“EQ"”) compliance committee of the
Company (the “EO Compliance Committee”) was established
by the Board on 11 September 2014. The EO Compliance
Committee currently comprises two executive Directors and one
independent non-executive Director and is chaired by Mr. Hui
Kwok Keung Raymond. The other members are Mr. Hui Kwok
Wing and Mr. Chung. The primary duties of the EO Compliance
Committee are to oversee and monitor the Group’s compliance
of EO and other relevant regulations through regular meetings
and special meetings.

Three EO Compliance Committee meetings were held during the
Financial Year. Details of the attendance of the EO Compliance
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Committees meetings are as follows: MBS -
Members Attendance
Hi % e R
Hui Kwok Keung Raymond (Chairman) 3/3
ARS8 (F/E)
Hui Kwok Wing 3/3
B
Chung Wai Man 3/3
X

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT BHEREX

Directors’ and Auditor’s Responsibilities for the
Consolidated Financial Statements

All Directors acknowledge their responsibility to prepare the
Group’s consolidated financial statements for each financial
year to give a true and fair view of the financial position of the
Group and of its financial performance and cash flows for that
financial year. In preparing the consolidated financial statements
for the Financial Year, the Board has selected suitable accounting
policies and applied them consistently, made judgements and
estimates that are prudent, fair and reasonable and prepared the
consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis. The
Directors are responsible for taking all reasonable and necessary
steps to safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent and
detect fraud and other irregularities. The statement of auditor
about their reporting responsibilities on the consolidated
financial statements is set out in the Independent Auditor’s
Report. The Directors continue to adopt the going concern
approach in preparing the consolidated financial statements and
are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern.
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Auditor’s Remuneration

The remuneration paid or payable to the Company’s auditor,
BDO Limited, in respect of their audit services for the Financial
Year amounted to HK$710,000. Save as disclosed above, there
was no other non-audit service provided by the auditor during
the year ended 31 March 2024.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
Goals and objectives

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the effectiveness
of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems.
Such risk management and internal control systems are designed
for managing risks rather than eliminating the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and
not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The latest updated version of the risk management policy of the
Company (the “Risk Management Policy”) was adopted by the
Board and became effective on 1 April 2022.

The Risk Management Policy is designed to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and
can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss.

The Company risk-assessment process should identify and
consider the implications of relevant risks, at both the entity level
and the activity level. The risk-assessment process should consider
external and internal factors that could impact achievement
of the objectives, should analyse the risks, and provide a basis
for managing them. Such risks would include, amongst others,
material risks relating to environmental, social and governance.

The Board has delegated its responsibilities (with relevant
authorities) of risk management and internal control to the
Audit Committee. The Audit Committee (on behalf of the Board)
oversees the management in the design, implementation and
monitoring of the risk management and internal control systems
for the Financial Year.

ZE T &

RAFBRFE  BZBEREESKEMSED
BEMBEE L EEREHMEEMAERAAZ
B &710,0008 7T - Bs EXFTIEEEI - B2
TE-ME=ZF=+—HIFE ZRHAMLE
R F A EMIERZRT -

REER AR

Fét &k B &
EETATHARAEEEAREER AL
EMBMMEZEL - RERARERRNBEE
ERDAERARMIER R REEREL AR
MM TERHEAERMAKIBRERS
B R IR R

AArRBREEBRNSEHETRAEA ((RRE
EEEAZﬁJ) PESEEeBRBE YR -1
A—B4E% -

@Bﬁﬁﬁﬂl%ﬁ‘éﬁ%’@ﬁﬂ%)ﬁﬁ%ﬂ* BERER
ET‘EE’JHA /\aﬁTékfﬁuﬂ%L‘ME%

ARrERFEAEECEECEEMNEDER
A EEHERROTE - BT HBREE

ZRAIRTEERERENIITNARBEE f
ﬁ‘”—L/«/\LTTﬂjﬁ— Itﬁ’_qfi}\_&tﬂ ?E’f/\j;
LR B EIRE - g A IE*HE@E’JEK
b -

EXECEREAMAREERABEENEE
(ZRHEBAER)ZRTEZZES - RAMK
FE ERZEE(RREFQ)EEEHEER
ABERMkEERREEMABEZRR -

DH

RBESEEZERERDT 2023/24F 8K

43



44

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT 1k % & )& &

Possible risks and uncertainties

The Group’s possible risks and uncertainties range from raw
material risk, market risk, operational risk, credit risk and
financial risk.

Business Risk

The Group's business risks include rapid change in the general
market conditions, especially the Hong Kong retail market, and
also the downturn pressure on the overall economy of the Hong
Kong and other overseas markets. The Board is responsible for
the overall management of the business and review of material
business decisions involving material risks exposures from time to
time.

Financial Risk

The Board monitors closely the Group's foreign exchange risk,
credit risk, liquidity risk and interest rate risk. The Board also
reviews monthly performance, capital structure and key operating
data of the Group.

Compliance Risk

The Board monitors and ensures that the Group is in compliance
with the applicable laws, rules and regulations. The Group
engages professionals from time to time to keep abreast of the
latest developments in the regulatory environment, including
legal, financial, environmental and operational developments. The
Group also adopts a strict policy in prohibiting any unauthorised
use or dissemination of confidential or inside information.

Main features of the risk management and internal
control systems

To ensure the efficient and effective operation of the business
and operations, relevant internal control procedures have been
set up for safeguarding assets against unauthorised use or
disposition, controlling over capital expenditure, maintaining
proper accounting records and ensuring the reliability of financial
information used for business and publication. These procedures
are monitored and reviewed from time to time and updated
where necessary.
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The processes used to identify, evaluate and manage significant
risks by the Group are summarised as follows:

Risk Identification
o Identifies risks that may potentially affect the key processes
of the Group’s business and operations.

Risk Assessment
o Assesses the risks identified by using the assessment criteria
developed by the management; and

o Considers the impact on the business and the likelihood of
their occurrence.

Risk Response
o Prioritises the risks by comparing the results of the risk
assessment; and

o Determines the risk management strategies and internal
control processes to prevent, avoid or mitigate the risks.

Risk Monitoring and Reporting

o Performs ongoing and periodic monitoring of the risk and
ensures that appropriate internal control processes are in
place;

o Revises the risk management strategies and internal control
processes in case of any significant change of situation; and

o Reports the results of risk monitoring to the management
and the Board regularly.

The Group has engaged the Internal Control Adviser to carry out
the internal audit functions by performing an annual review on
the risk management and internal control systems of the selected
cycles of the selected subsidiaries for the Financial Year. Such
review is conducted annually. The scope of review of Internal
Control Adviser included revenue and receipt cycle, human
resources and payroll cycle and financial reporting cycle for
certain subsidiaries with principal activities of retail chain business
in lighting, designed label furniture and household products in
Hong Kong.
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Internal Control Adviser has reported major findings and
areas for improvement to the Company. All recommendations
from Internal Control Adviser would be followed up closely
by the management of the Group to ensure that they are
implemented within a reasonable period of time. The Group
therefore considered that the risk management and internal
control processes are adequate to meet the needs of the Group
in its current business environment and that nothing has come
to its attention to cause the Board to believe the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems are inadequate.

Based on the review, the Audit Committee is of the view that
the Group’s risk management and internal control systems were
generally effective and in compliance with the requirements of
the code provision D.2.1 of CG Code for the Financial Year in all
material respects. The Company has reviewed the effectiveness
of the systems of risk management and internal control of the
Group, covering all material controls, including financial and
operation for the Financial Year.

Inside Information Disclosure Policy

To ensure timely, fair, accurate and complete disclosure of
inside information and for compliance with the applicable laws
and regulations, the Group has in place, as an internal control
element, a series of disclosure procedures of price sensitive
information on reporting and dissemination of inside information
and preservation of confidentiality. Under the inside information
disclosure policy, head of the accounting department of the
Company shall report to company secretary of the Company
and Directors any potential/suspected inside information event
as soon as practicable when it materialises for determining the
nature of developments, and if required, making disclosure. All
staff are also required to observe the code of ethical standards
stated in staff handbook to keep non-public information
confidential.
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INVESTORS AND SHAREHOLDERS RELATIONS
Stakeholder Relations and Communications Policy
The Board has adopted a stakeholder relations and
communications policy of the Company (the “Stakeholder
Relations and Communications Policy”) on 18 February 2014. The
purpose of the Stakeholder Relations and Communications Policy
is to establish minimum standards for how the Company and the
Directors will communicate openly about our plans, performance,
values and services to its stakeholders. The Stakeholder Relations
and Communications Policy is summarized as follows:

The Board will submit to the chief executive officer of the
Company an annual report on the activities of the Board and
the chief executive officer of the Company will table that report
before the annual general meeting of the Company. Copies of
annual reports and annual financial statements will be distributed
to a Board-approved distribution list and to any stakeholder
upon request. Annual reports and financial statements will be
distributed to shareholders, the public and the media free of
charge.

The compliance officer or chief executive officer of the Company
is authorized by the Group for providing information for and
handling enquiries from media and investors (including but
not limited to, brokerage houses, analysts, fund managers
and institutional investors). Other enquiries from stakeholders
generally will be directed to the compliance officer or chief
executive officer of the Company who will evaluate the request,
respond directly or through a designate when appropriate or
gather the necessary background information and direct the
request to the chairman of the Board.

The Board has reviewed the Stakeholder Relations and
Communications Policy and its effectiveness for the Financial
Year. The Company has provided appropriate communication
channels to the shareholders in accordance with the Stakeholder
Relations and Communications Policy and therefore existing
Stakeholder Relations and Communications Policy is appropriate
to the Company.
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Shareholders’ Rights

The Company values communication with the shareholders
and investors of the Company. The Company uses two-way
communication channels to account to shareholders and investors
for the performance of the Company. Enquiries and suggestions
from shareholders or investors are welcomed, and enquiries from
shareholders may be put to the Board through the following
channels to the executive Directors:

1. By mail to the Company’s principal place of business at
10th Floor, Tiffan Tower, 199 Wanchai Road, Wanchai,
Hong Kong; or

2. By email at investor@elighting.asia.

The Company uses a number of formal communication channels
to account to shareholders and investors for the performance
of the Company. These include (i) the publication of quarterly,
interim and annual reports; (ii) the annual general meeting
or extraordinary general meeting providing a forum for
shareholders to raise comments and exchange views with the
Board; (iii) updating the key information of the Group available
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company;
(iv) the Company’s website offering communication channel
between the Company and its shareholders and investors; and
(v) the Company’s share registrars in Hong Kong serving the
shareholders in respect of all share registration matters.

The Company aims to provide its shareholders and investors
with high standards of disclosure and financial transparency.
The Board is committed to provide clear, detailed, timely manner
and on a regular basis information of the Group to shareholders
through the publication of quarterly, interim and annual reports
and/or dispatching circulars, notices, and other announcements.
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The Company strives to take into consideration its shareholders’
views and inputs, and address shareholders’ concerns.
Shareholders are encouraged to attend the annual general
meeting for which at least 21 days’ notice shall be given.
The chairman of the Board as well as chairmen of the Audit
Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration
Committee, or in their absence, the Directors are available to
answer shareholders’ questions on the Group’s businesses at the
meeting. To comply with code provision F.2.2 of the CG Code,
the management will ensure the external auditor to attend the
annual general meeting to answer questions about the conduct
of the audit, the preparation and content of the auditor’s report,
the accounting policies and auditor independence.

All shareholders have statutory rights to call for extraordinary
general meetings and put forward agenda items for consideration
by shareholders. According to article 58 of the Articles, any
one or more members holding at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of
the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings
of the Company shall at all times have the right, by written
requisition to the Board or the secretary of the Company, to
require an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the
Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two months
after the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty one days
of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such
meeting the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in
the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

If a shareholder wishes to propose a person (the “Candidate”)
for election as a director of the Company at a general meeting,
he/she shall deposit a written notice (the “Notice”) at the
Company’s head office located at 10th Floor, Tiffan Tower, 199
Wanchai Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.
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The Notice shall:

(i) include the personal information of the Candidate as
required by Rule 17.50(2) of the GEM Listing Rules; and

(i)  be signed by the shareholder concerned and signed by the
Candidate indicating his/her willingness.

The period for lodgment of the Notice shall commence on the
day after the dispatch of the notice of general meeting and
end no later than seven days prior to the date of such general
meeting.

In order to ensure the Company’s shareholders have sufficient
time to receive and consider the proposal of election of the
Candidate as a director of the Company without adjourning the
general meeting, shareholders are urged to submit and lodge the
Notice as early as practicable preferably at least 14 days prior to
the date of the general meeting appointed for such election.

In order to promote effective communication, the Company also
maintains website (www.elighting.asia) which includes the latest
information relating to the Group and its businesses.

INDEPENDENT VIEW POLICY

The independent view policy of the Company (the “Independent
View Policy”) was adopted by the Board and became effective on
1 April 2022.

The Independent View Policy is established to ensure independent
views and input are available to the Board.

The Company adopted the Nomination Policy. The nomination
process of Directors, including Independent Non-executive
Directors, is included in the Nomination Policy.

The Board should include at least three Independent
Non-executive Directors. At least one of the Independent
Non-executive Directors has served less than 9 years on the
Board. At least one of the Independent Non-executive Directors
must have appropriate professional qualifications or accounting
or related financial management expertise. The Company must
appoint Independent Non-executive Directors representing at
least one-third of the Board. The Company shall appoint a
sufficient number of Independent Non-executive Directors to
meet the minimum number required above within three months
after failing to meet the requirement(s).
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The Board committees should comprise a majority of Independent
Non-executive Directors.

Directors should disclose to the Company at the time of their
appointments, and in a timely manner for any changes, the
number and nature of offices held in public companies or
organisations and other significant commitments. The identity of
the public companies or organisations and an indication of the
time involved should also be disclosed.

When selecting Independent Non-executive Directors, the
candidates’ availability should be considered as sitting on a
Board involves a significant time commitment. Independent
Non-executive Directors must dedicate time to reading materials
prior to Board meetings in order to make the hours spent in
meetings effective. They also have to learn to understand the
Company’s complex business and operational details, market
forces and future perspectives.

The Nomination Committee should be aware of the factors which
may affect an individual’s time commitment to the Company.

Upon reasonable request, Directors may seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the
Company’s expense. All Directors should have access to the
advice and services of the company secretary to ensure that
Board procedures, and all applicable law, rules and regulations,
are followed.

The Board shall review the Independent View Policy annually
to ensure its continued effectiveness. Any revisions to the
Independent View Policy shall be considered and approved by the
Board.

The Board was satisfied with the implementation and
effectiveness of the Independent View Policy for the Financial
Year.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”)
on 20 December 2018. The Dividend Policy aims to allow
shareholders of the Company to participate in the Company’s
profits whilst preserving the Company’s liquidity to capture
future growth opportunities.

In deciding whether to propose a dividend and in determining
the dividend amount, the Board shall consider the following
factors before declaring or recommending dividends:
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(@) the Company’s actual and expected financial performance;

(b) retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company
and each of the members of the Group, together with its
subsidiaries;

() the Group’s working capital requirements, capital
expenditure requirements and future expansion plans;

(d) the Group’s liquidity position;

(e) general economic conditions, business cycle of the Group’s
business and other internal or external factors that may
have an impact on the business or financial performance
and position of the Group; and

(f)  other factors that the Board may considered relevant.

The payment of dividend by the Company is also subject to any
restrictions under the Cayman Islands laws and the Company’s
articles of association.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Tang has been appointed as the company secretary of
the Company on 17 November 2021. During the Financial
Year, Mr. Tang has taken not less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training in accordance with Rule 5.15 of the GEM
Listing Rules.

MEMORANDUM AND ARTICLES OF
ASSOCIATION

On 23 June 2023, the Board proposed to amend the
memorandum and articles of association of the Company in order
to, inter alia, (i) bring the memorandum and articles association
of the Company in alignment with the Core Shareholder
Protection Standards set out in Appendix 3 to the GEM Listing
Rules and the applicable laws of the Cayman Islands; and (ii)
make other housekeeping amendments, including consequential
amendments in line with the above amendments to the
memorandum and articles of association of the Company.

The proposed amendments and the proposed adoption of the
amended and restated memorandum and articles of association
were approved by way of special resolution at the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 5 September 2023.

For details, please refer to the Company’s announcements

dated 23 June 2023, 30 June 2023 and 5 September 2023 and
Company’s circular dated 30 June 2023.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The Directors submit their report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2024.

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG
The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in the
Cayman Islands and its principal place of business in Hong Kong
is 10th Floor, Tiffan Tower, 199 Wanchai Road, Wanchai, Hong
Kong.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company’s principal activity is investment holding while
the Group is principally engaged in retail chain business in
lighting, designer label furniture and household products in
Hong Kong and wholesale of tableware, giftware and other
trading worldwide. The principal activities and other particulars
of the subsidiaries of the Company are set out in note 33 to the
consolidated financial statements.

COMPLIANCE RELEVANT LAW AND
REGULATIONS

During the Financial Year, the Group has complied with the
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on
the operations of the Group.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company maintains a high standard of corporate governance
practices. Details of the corporate governance practices adopted
by the Company are set out in the Corporate Governance Report
on pages 27 to 52. The Directors believe the long term financial
performance as opposed to short term rewards is a corporate
governance objective. The Board would not take undue risks
to make short term gains at the expense of the long term
objectives.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the Financial Year
and a discussion on the Group’s future business development are
provided in the Chairman’s Statement on pages 5 to 6, CEO’s
Statement on pages 7 to 8 and Management Discussion and
Analysis on pages 9 to 21 of this annual report.

Description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the
Group can be found throughout this annual report, in particular
the “Risk Management and Internal Control” section under the
Corporate Governance Report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The results of the Group for the Financial Year and the state
of affairs of the Group as at 31 March 2024 are set out in the
consolidated financial statements on pages 73 to 135.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the Financial Year.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during
the Financial Year are set out in note 25 to the consolidated
financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Scheme”
of this annual report, no equity-linked agreement was entered
into by the Company during the Financial Year.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and of
the Company during the Financial Year are set out in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and in note 26 to
the consolidated financial statements respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVE
As at 31 March 2024, the Company had no distributable reserve
that was for distribution to shareholders.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group recognises that the employees, customers and
business partners (including suppliers and contractors) are
key stakeholders to the Group’s success. The Group strives to
achieve corporate sustainability through engaging its employees,
providing quality products and services to the customers,
collaborating with business partners to deliver quality sustainable
products and services and supporting the community.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Financial Year, the top five customers together
accounted for approximately 1.3% of the Group’s revenue and
the Group’s largest customer accounted for approximately 0.4%
of the Group’s revenue.

During the Financial Year, the top five suppliers together
accounted for approximately 55.1% of the Group’s purchases
and the Group's largest supplier accounted for approximately
18.8% of the Group's purchases.

During the Financial Year, none of the Directors, their close
associates (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) or any
shareholders (which to the knowledge of the Directors own more
than 5% of the Company’s total number of shares in issue) had
any interest in these major customers and suppliers.
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DIRECTORS

During the Financial Year and up to the date of this annual
report, the Directors were:

Executive Directors

Hue Kwok Chiu (Chairman)

Hui Kwok Keung Raymond (Chief Executive Officer)
Hui Kwok Wing (Chief Creative Officer)

Independent non-executive Directors
Chung Wai Man

Leung Wai Chuen

Wong Long Yan Milka (appointed on 1 June 2023)
Yeung Mo Sheung Ann (resigned on 1 June 2023)

By virtue of article 84 of the Articles, Mr. Hue Kwok Chiu
and Mr. Hui Kwok Wing will retire and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Mr. Hue Kwok Chiu and Mr. Hui Kwok Keung Raymond, the
executive Directors, and Mr. Chung Wai Man and Mr. Leung Wai
Chuen, the independent non-executive Directors, have entered
into a service agreement with the Company for a fixed term of
two years from 11 September 2022, which may be terminated by
not less than three months’ written notice served by either party
on the other, and is subject to termination provisions therein and
provisions on retirement by rotation of Directors as set out in the
Articles.

Ms. Wong Long Yan Milka, the independent non-executive
Director, has entered into a service agreement with the Company
for a fixed term of two years from 1 June 2023, which may
be terminated by not less than three months’ written notice
served by either party on the other, and is subject to termination
provisions therein and provisions on retirement by rotation of
Directors as set out in the Articles.

Mr. Hui Kwok Wing, the executive Director, has entered into a
service agreement with the Company for a fixed term of two
years from 19 June 2023, which may be terminated by not less
than three months’ written notice served by either party on
the other, and is subject to termination provisions therein and
provisions on retirement by rotation of Directors as set out in the
Articles.
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HH

None of the Directors (including those proposed for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting) has a service contract
which is not determinable by the Group within 1 year without
payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of Directors and senior management are
set out on pages 22 to 26.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY
OR ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 March 2024, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the chief executives of the Company (the “Chief
Executives”) in the shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(“SFQ")), as recorded in the register required to be kept under
section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Required Standard of
Dealings were as follows:

MEEE (ERAREERRAEFAG LEESE
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Long positions in ordinary shares of the Company REQATEERNEE
Approximate
Number of percentage of
Name Capacity/Nature of interests securities shareholding
%A BoRERME &5 HE REMAO BT
Mr. Hui Kwok Keung Raymond  Interest in controlling corporation 210,000,000 46.56%
Eaci: bt RELE R (Note)
(HH=E)
Mr. Hue Kwok Chiu Beneficial Owner 45,000,000 9.98%
FFE$ 5 A BEafEA A
Note: B 3

These shares are held by Time Prestige Ventures Limited, a company wholly-owned
by Mr. Hui Kwok Keung Raymond.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2024, none of the
Directors or the Chief Executives had any interests or short
positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations as recorded in
the register required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO, or
as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Required Standard of Dealings.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES
OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 March 2024, to the best of the knowledge of the
Directors and the Chief Executives and based on the public
records filed on the website of the Stock Exchange and records
kept by the Company, the interests and short positions of the
persons or corporations (other than the Directors and the Chief
Executives) in the shares or underlying shares of the Company as
recorded in the register required to be kept under section 336 of
the SFO were as follows:
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Long positions in ordinary shares of the Company MNAEAQNFZEBERNVNEFE
Approximate
Number of percentage of
Name Capacity/Nature of interests securities shareholding
i FoRERME EHEHE BREMNB DL
Time Prestige Ventures Limited Beneficial Owner 210,000,000 46.56%
EmE A
Ms. Ng Hiu Ying (Note) Interest of spouse 45,000,000 9.98%
REB LT () Fic 45 4 25
Note: B EE -

Ms. Ng Hiu Ying is the spouse of Mr. Hue Kwok Chiu. Under the SFO, Ms. Ng Hiu
Ying is deemed to be interested in the same number of shares in which Mr. Hue
Kwok Chiu is interested.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2024, no person or
corporation (other than the Directors and the Chief Executives)
who had any interests or short positions in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company were recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the
SFO.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to attract and retain
the best available personnel, to provide additional incentive
to the Eligible Participants and to promote the success of the
business of the Group.

The Company conditionally adopted the Share Option Scheme on
11 September 2014 whereby the Board is authorised, at its
absolute discretion and subject to the terms of the Share Option
Scheme, to grant options to the Eligible Participants to subscribe
for the shares of the Company. The Share Option Scheme will be
valid and effective for a period of ten years commencing from
the date of adoption of the Share Option Scheme.

The maximum number of shares in respect of which options may
be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option schemes of the Company must not in aggregate exceed
10% of the total number of shares in issue upon the date of the
shares of the Company listed on GEM, being 40,000,000 shares
(or such numbers of shares as shall result from a subdivision or
a consolidation of such 40,000,000 shares from time to time)
(the “"Scheme Limit"”). Subject to shareholders’ approval in
general meeting, the Board may (i) renew this limit at any time
to 10% of the total number of shares in issue as at the date of
the approval by the shareholders in general meeting; and/or (ii)
grant options beyond the Scheme Limit to Eligible Participants
specifically identified by the Board.

The number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the
Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of the
Company at any time shall not exceed 30% of the total number
of shares in issue from time to time. No options shall be granted
under any schemes of the Company (including the Share Option
Scheme) if this will result in the limit being exceeded.

The total number of shares issuable upon exercise of the options
granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option schemes of the Company to each Eligible Participant in
any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the total number
of shares in issue. Any further grant of options is subject to
shareholders’ approval in general meeting with such Eligible
Participant and his associates abstaining from voting.
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An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
Share Option Scheme at any time during a period as the Board
may determine which shall not exceed 10 years from the date of
grant subject to the provisions of early termination thereof.

An offer for the grant of options must be accepted within seven
days inclusive of the day on which such offer was made. The
amount payable by the grantee of an option to the Company on
acceptance of the offer for the grant of an option is HK$1.

Pursuant to the Share Option Scheme, the participants may
subscribe for the shares of the Company on exercise of an option
at the price determined by the Board provided that it shall be at
least the highest of: (i) the closing price of the shares as stated in
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on the date of grant,
which must be a business day; (ii) the average of the closing
prices of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotation sheets for the five business days immediately preceding
the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the share.

At the beginning and the end of the Financial Year, the number
of options available for grant under the Share Option Scheme
is 40,000,000 shares. As at the date of this annual report, the
total number of shares available for issue under the Share Option
Scheme is 40,000,000 shares, representing approximately 8.87%
of the total number of issued shares of the Company. Since the
adoption of the Share Option Scheme, no share option has been
granted by the Company.

Remarks:

1. Pursuant to Rule 23.03A of the GEM Listing Rules, the
participants of a scheme shall only comprise directors
and employees of the issuer or any of its subsidiaries and
the persons who provide services to the issuer group on
a continuing or recurring basis in its ordinary and usual
course of business which are in the interests of the long
term growth of the issuer group.

2. Pursuant to Rule 23.03F of the GEM Listing Rules, the
vesting period for options shall not be less than 12 months.
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2 Pursuant to Rule 23.04(3) of the GEM Listing Rules,
where any grant of options or awards to an independent
non-executive director or a substantial shareholder of the
listed issuer, or any of their respective associates, would
result in the shares issued and to be issued in respect of
all options and awards granted (excluding any options and
awards lapsed in accordance with the terms of the scheme)
to such person in the 12-month period up to and including
the date of such grant representing in aggregate over 0.1%
of the relevant class of shares in issue, such further grant
of options or awards must be approved by shareholders
of the listed issuer in general meeting in the manner set
out in Rule 23.04(4) of the GEM Listing Rules. Pursuant to
Rule 23.04(4) of the GEM Listing Rules, the listed issuer
must send a circular to the shareholders. The grantee,
his/her associates and all core connected persons of the
listed issuer must abstain from voting in favour at such
general meeting. The listed issuer must comply with the
requirements under Rules 17.47A, 17.47B and 17.47C of
the GEM Listing Rules.

RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES
Save as disclosed above, at no time during the Financial Year
was the Company, or any of its holding companies or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors
and the Chief Executives (including their spouses and children
under 18 years of age) to hold any interests or short positions in
the shares, or underlying shares, or debentures of the Company
or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO).
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles or
the laws of the Cayman Islands, being the jurisdiction in which
the Company was incorporated.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the
Financial Year.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has
maintained a sufficient public float as required by the GEM
Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS” MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND
CONTRACTS THAT ARE SIGNIFICANT IN
RELATION TO THE COMPANY'S BUSINESS

Save as otherwise disclosed, no transactions, arrangements and
contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business
to which the Company, its holding companies, or any of its
subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director or the Director’s
connected party had a material interest, either directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the Financial Year or at any
time during the Financial Year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Articles provides that every Director, is entitled to be
indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses
or liabilities which he/she may sustain or incur in or about the
execution of duties of his/her office or otherwise in relation
thereto provided that such indemnity shall not extend to any
matter in respect of fraud or dishonesty which may attach to the
Director.

The Company has taken out and maintained directors’ liability
insurance throughout the Financial Year, which provides
appropriate cover for the Directors.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
was entered into or existed during the Financial Year.

DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

The controlling shareholders, namely Mr. Hui Kwok Keung
Raymond and the company through which he holds equity
interests in the Company, namely, Time Prestige Ventures
Limited, have entered into a deed of non-competition with the
Company on 11 September 2014. The details of the deed of
non-competition have been disclosed in the prospectus of the
Company dated 22 September 2014.

The controlling shareholders have confirmed the Company
that they had complied with the non-competition undertakings
during the Financial Year. The Board (including the independent
non-executive Directors) has reviewed and confirmed the
compliance with the non-competition undertakings by the
controlling shareholders.

COMPETING INTERESTS

As at 31 March 2024, none of the Directors, the substantial
shareholders of the Company and their respective close associates
(as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) has any interests in a
business which competes or is likely to compete, either directly
or indirectly, with the business of the Group.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The “related party transactions” as disclosed in note 27 to
the consolidated financial statements for the Financial Year
did not constitute a connected transaction or a continuing
connected transaction as defined in Chapter 20 of the GEM
Listing Rules which are required to comply with any of the
reporting, announcement or independent Shareholders’ approval
requirements thereunder.

There are no other non-exempt connected and continuing
connected transactions during the Financial Year.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLAN

Particulars of retirement benefits plan of the Group as at 31
March 2024 are set out in note 4(k)(ii) to the consolidated
financial statements.
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CONFIRMATION INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent
nonexecutive Directors a confirmation of independence pursuant
to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and considered that all the
independent non-executive Directors were independent during
the Financial Year.

COMPLIANCE ADVISER’S INTERESTS

After the completion of the engagement of Ample Capital
Limited as the compliance adviser of the Company in compliance
with Rule 6A.19 of the GEM Listing Rules on 30 June 2017, the
Company did not have compliance adviser.

ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES

The Group is committed to the sustainable development of
the environment and the society. The Group has endeavoured
to comply with laws and regulations regarding environmental
protection and adopted effective environmental policies to ensure
its projects meet the required standards and ethics in respect of
environmental protection.

The Group aims to capture the flourishing LED market,
by monitoring the latest development of policies for LED
products and providing customers with more eco-friendly and
cost-effective LED products. The Group has also assembled
the product portfolio in order that the majority of the lighting
appliance products to be LED compatible, and the Group has
designated several of existing retail shops as LED specialty stores
which primarily showcase LED lighting appliance products.

Moreover, the Group has been participating in the “Fluorescent
Lamp Recycling Programme”, which provides households with
free collection and treatment for all used mercury-containing
lamps to reduce the environmental risk from improper disposal of
these lamps and recover resources.

A standalone Environmental, Social and Governance Report of
the Group shall be published separately and will be posted on
the websites of the Company (www.elighting.asia) and the Stock
Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk).
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS % = & ¥

W

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group is set out in the financial summary on page 136 of this
annual report.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the Financial Year
have been audited by BDO Limited who will retire and, being
eligible, offer itself for re-appointment. A resolution for the
re-appointment of BDO Limited as the auditor of the Company
is to be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting of
the Company.

By Order of the Board

E Lighting Group Holdings Limited
Hue Kwok Chiu
Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 June 2024
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

|IBDO

Tel : +852 2218 8288
Fax: +852 2815 2239

8 M 2% BED R

25t Floor Wing On Centre
111 Connaught Road Central

www.bdo.com.hk Hong Kong
|
TEE © +852 2218 8288 HEBTHEEP11158
{8H : +852 2815 2239 K> 2548
www.bdo.com.hk
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT BIYEMHRE

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
E LIGHTING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of e Lighting
Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together
the “Group”) set out on pages 73 to 135, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2024, and
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes
to the consolidated financial statements, including material accounting
policies information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
March 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs"”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the “Auditor’'s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s “Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants” (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

BDO Limited
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BDO Limited, a Hong Kong limited company, is a member of BDO International Limited, a UK company limited by guarantee,

and forms part of the international BDO network of independent member firms.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.

Impairment assessment of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets

(Refer to Note 5(a), Note 15 and Note 16 to the consolidated financial
statements)

The carrying value of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets of the Group as at 31 March 2024 was approximately HK$239,000
and HK$4,730,000 respectively.

Certain retail shops (cash-generating units (“CGUs") of the Group) had
reported continued losses in the current year which was considered
as an impairment indicator on the property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets. Management has performed an impairment
assessment on these non-financial assets or CGU which they belong as at
31 March 2024 to determine the recoverable amount using value in use
calculations.

Based on the result of management’s assessment, impairment loss for the
year of approximately HK$95,000 and HK$6,831,000 were recognised
to reduce the carrying amounts of certain property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets, respectively to their recoverable amounts.

Because of the significance of the balance, the existence of impairment
indicator and the determination of recoverable amount of these assets
or CGU which they belong, using value in use calculations, as well as
the key assumptions applied to the cash flow forecast require significant
judgements and estimates by the management about the future results of
the related business, we have identified this matter as a key audit matter.

E Lighting Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2023/24
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Our response:

- tested management’s assessment as to which groups of property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets have indicators of
impairment, together with management’s grouping of such assets
in the relevant CGUs;

- for those CGUs that included property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets with impairment indicators, tested the
relevant discounted cash flow forecasts prepared by management,
including:

- assessed the reasonableness of key input data in the cash
flow forecasts by comparing them with historical actual
information;

- compared the expected revenue growth rates to relevant
market expectations such as industry information;

- tested the discount rate with reference to our understanding
of the business including the future business plans of the
relevant CGUs, comparisons to other similar companies and
broader market considerations;

- evaluated the methodologies adopted and checked the
mathematical accuracy of the value-in-use calculations used
to estimate the recoverable amounts; and

- performed sensitivity analysis on the key input data and
assumptions to the impairment assessment, to understand
the impact of reasonable alternative assumptions that would
have on the estimated recoverable amounts.
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Impairment assessment of inventories
(Refer to Note 5(b) and Note 19 to the consolidated financial statements)

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had inventories of approximately
HK$11,217,000 net of provision of HK$1,907,000. Management
estimated the net realisable value of inventories at the end of the
reporting period, and make provision for write-down in value, if any.
The Group reviews and identifies as at the end of each financial period,
provision for inventories (if any) is based on recent sales performance,
management experience with characteristic customer purchase behaviour
and assessment of the product’s alignment with current market trend.
The management estimates the net realisable value for inventories bases
primarily on the latest market prices and current market conditions.
The assessment of the provision amount required involves management
judgement and estimates.

We had identified inventory valuation as a key audit matter as impairment
assessment on inventories was subject to significant management
judgement and the amount involved could be significant.

Our response:

- Understood and evaluated the Group’s provision policy on
inventories and basis of the assessment;

- Reviewed and assessed obsolete or out-dated inventories identified
by management and estimation of the net realisable value of these
inventories;

- Evaluated historical accuracy of inventory provisioning by
comparing historical provision made to the loss incurred for actual
sales;

- Reviewed inventory ageing analysis and analysing the level of aged
inventory and their associated provisions;

- Tested the carrying amount of aged and obsolete inventories on a
sample basis to the source documents; and

- Reviewed and evaluated net realisable value of inventories, with
reference to subsequent sales information and the external price
data, and performed testing by tracing to the source documents on
a sample basis.

E Lighting Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2023/24
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OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the Company’s annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and
our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have
nothing to report in this regard.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and
for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process. The Audit Committee assists the directors in
discharging their responsibility in this regard.
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AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with the terms of our engagement, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

o identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the

reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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3 conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in
our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

o evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

o obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group
to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance
of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law
or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits
of such communication.

BDO Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Leung Tze Wai

Practising Certificate Number P06158

Hong Kong,
27 June 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

H b 2 mE W m 3R

For the year ended 31 March 2024 éjéiz ToES A= E B

2 A
%\ Eiﬁﬂ

2024 2023
—E-_mE —EZ=F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt 5 FHET FHET
Revenue I & 7 74,347 78,927
Cost of sales SHE AR (35,194) (36,619)
Gross profit E A 39,153 42,308
Other income, gains and losses Hil A - WEH KREE 8 913 1,628
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHEFX (27,271) (28,318)
Administrative and other expenses THREMAR (14,469) (17,094)
Impairment loss on property, plant and W - BB REBERESE
equipment (95) (58)
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets FREEEREBEERE (6,831) (2,411)
Expected credit losses recognised on CREEHRNEHEEEE
financial assets (36) (1,603)
Interest on lease liabilities HEBGBRNE (1,877) (924)
Loss before income tax FRATISTRIEE 9 (10,513) (6,472)
Income tax expense FTiSBif X 12 (998) (373)
Loss and total comprehensive income for the ~ ZNAT#EE AEHER
year attributable to owners of the Company EEEEEWESERE (11,511) (6,845)
Loss per share BREE
— Basic and diluted (HK cents) — B EE B 13 (2.55) (1.52)
ERAEEZERER AR 2023/245F K
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION

e BRI &

As at 31 March 2024 R =F —WE=H=+—H

2024 2023
—E-NF =T ==
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 FERT T T
Non-current assets ERBEE

Property, plant and equipment M BEREZE 15 239 645
Right-of-use assets EREEE 16 4,730 17,609
Rental deposits HEZRS 20 1,239 4,722
Deferred tax assets EEFTEE E 24 224 930
6,432 23,906

Current assets REEE
Inventories FE 19 11,217 12,297
Trade and other receivables JE W3R I8 Ko B At E U RIE 20 7,446 3,460
Tax recoverable Al Y = A IE 262 -
Cash and bank balances Re MIRITEE 5,894 9,938
24,819 25,695
Total assets EEH#AE 31,251 49,601

Current liabilities REAE
Trade and other payables JE 15 3R 08 Ko H At B < FR0E 21 7,105 6,467
Contract liabilities AHEE 22 1,014 1,181
Lease liabilities HEEE 23 11,559 14,073
Current tax liabilities JEQB:R TR Eg= Ry 152 152
19,830 21,873
Net current assets REBEEFEE 4,989 3,822
Total assets less current liabilities EEHLERTBER 11,421 27,728

E Lighting Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2023/24



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 43 & Bf 75 ik ) 3%
As at 31 March 2024 R=F —piE=H=+—H

2024 2023
—ENF =T =6
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt 5 FET FHT
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Lease liabilities HEAE 23 2,732 7,528
2,732 7,528
Total liabilities BEHAE 22,562 29,401
NET ASSETS EEZFEE 8,689 20,200
EQUITY e
Share capital A% 2% 25 4,510 4,510
Reserves ki 4,179 15,690
TOTAL EQUITY EmBE 8,689 20,200
On behalf of the Board
REREFZ
Hui Kwok Keung Raymond (& B %) Hue Kwok Chiu (FrE &)
Director &% Director &%
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CHANGES IN EQUITY

GAREEBR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 gt —ZF —/MF = H=+—HI - F/F

Share Share Other Accumulated Total
capital premium reserve losses equity
A& R4 EE Ht ke 2 BB BERAH
HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAR THERT TAER TER THER
(Note)
(B &)
As at 1 April 2022 R-Z-—€mA—B 4,510 67,066 2 (44,533) 27,045
Loss and total comprehensive FEBER
income for the year FHKREE = = = (6,845) (6,845)
As at 31 March 2023 and RZZZ=5=A=+-HK
1 April 2023 “E-=fNA—AH 4,510 67,066 2 (51,378) 20,200
Loss and total comprehensive FEEBER
income for the year 2HEBELE - - - (11,511) (11,511)
As at 31 March 2024 R-B-mE=A=+-A 4,510 67,066 2 (62,889) 8,689
Note: B 5 -

The other reserve of the Group represents the difference between the nominal value AREBHEMBEHEREARNCDETROEELEEENR -_Z—MN
FANANBEMMEEEAEMPBEHRE QR 2 BTRAEE

BEZRERE -

of shares issued by the Company and the aggregate nominal value of the issued
share capital of subsidiaries acquired pursuant to a group reorganisation which
became effective on 8 September 2014.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
mealRERER

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z —F — U&= =+—HIFF/Z

2024 2023
=i s o e
HK$000 HK$'000
FExT FHET
Cash flows from operating activities RELEITBNELRE
Loss before income tax BRETISTL AT 1B (10,513) (6,472)
Adjustments for: HTINFEEL AR
Impairment loss on property, plant and ME - WEREERE
equipment B8 95 58
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets FEREESEREREE 6,831 2,411
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ¥ % - BE KX ETE 357 295
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 14,429 15,769
(Reversal of provision)/provision for impairment 17 &5 E &8 (B E @)
loss on inventories B (131) 31
Expected credit losses recognised on trade EWHRIERERNEREE
receivables Eia 36 18
Expected credit losses recognised on other B JRE YRR TE i 7R
receivables BHEEER - 1,585
Income from rent concession KEHSESEHKRA - (252)
Interest on lease liabilities HEAGEMNE 1,877 924
Operating cash flows before EEESRBAI 2K
working capital changes HeERE 12,981 14,367
Decrease/(increase) in inventories TFERA, () 1,211 (1,373)
Increase in trade and other receivables JE UG TR TR K EL At U R TE B4 N (539) (402)
Increase in trade and other payables JE A~ TR B K E A FE S FR00B
#n 638 819
Decrease in contract liabilities HEHEERD (167) (87)
Cash generated from operations KREFMBNES 14,124 13,324
Income tax paid B PSR (554) (221)
Net cash generated from RETHMBRETHE
operating activities 13,570 13,103
Cash flows from investing activities RERETZBNELRE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEME  BE M&E (46) (615)
Net cash used in investing activities REZHMANREERE (46) (615)
ERAEEZERER AR 2023/245F K



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 4B ¢ R 8 &
For the year ended 31 March 2024 g = = FE = #E=H=+—H I EE

2024 2023
—E-NF =2 =
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 FET FHT
Cash flows from financing activities REMETZBNELRE
Repayment of principal portion of the BEHEABEZELRLS
lease liabilities 30 (15,691) (15,481)
Interest paid BERFR 30 (1,877) (924)
Net cash used in financing activities RETBRMANESEE (17,568) (16,405)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents RERBESZEYRD FHE (4,044) (3,917)
Cash and cash equivalents at FIzEERE2EEY
beginning of year 9,938 13,855
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year HRZBEERBESEEY 5,894 9,938
Analysis of the balances of cash and cash BERBESZEWEE
equivalents: D
Cash and bank balances Be RIRITHEH 5,894 9,938

78 E Lighting Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2023/24



J &

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CORPORATE INFORMATION

E Lighting Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company
with limited liability on 29 November 2013 under the Companies
Law. Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the
Cayman Islands. The address of the Company’s registered office
and principal place of business are disclosed in the Corporate
Information section of this annual report.

The Company’s issued shares have been listed on GEM of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”) since 29
September 2014.

The directors consider that the Company’s parent and ultimate
parent is Time Prestige Venture Limited, a company incorporated in
British Virgin Islands (“BVI").

The Company’s principal activity is investment holding while the
Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) is principally engaged
in retail chain business in lighting, designer label furniture and
household products in Hong Kong. The principal activities and
other particulars of the subsidiaries are set out in note 33 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The Group's consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 March 2024 were approved and authorised for issue by the
board of directors on 27 June 2024.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

(a)

Adoption of new or amendments to HKFRSs
— Effective on 1 April 2023

In the current year, the Group has applied for the first
time for following new or amendments to HKFRSs issued
by Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA"), which are relevant to and effective for the
Group's consolidated financial statements for annual period
beginning on 1 April 2023:
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts
Amendments to HKAS

1 and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting Policies

Amendments to HKAS 8  Definition of Accounting
Estimates

Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction

International Tax Reform — Pillar

Two Model Rules

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 12

Except for Amendments to HKAS1 and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2, Disclosure of Accounting Policies, none of these
new and amended HKFRSs has a material impact on the
Group's results and financial position for the current or prior
period and financial statements disclosures.

The nature and the impact of the revised HKFRSs that are
applicable to the Group are described below:

Amendments to HKAS 1 require entities to disclose their
material accounting policy information rather than their
significant accounting policies. Accounting policy information
is material if, when considered together with other
information included in an entity’s financial statements, it
can reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the
primary users of general purpose financial statements make
on the basis of those financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making
Materiality Judgements provide non-mandatory guidance on
how to apply the concept of materiality to accounting policy
disclosures.

These amendments have no effect on the measurement
or presentation of any items in the consolidated financial
statements of the Group but affect the disclosure of
accounting policies of the Group.
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2.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ADOPTION OF HKFRSS (continued)
(b) Amendments to HKFRSs that have been

issued but are not yet effective
The following amendments to HKFRSs, potentially relevant
to the Group’s consolidated financial statements, have been
issued, but are not yet effective and have not been early
adopted by the Group. The Group’s current intention is to
apply these changes on the date they become effective.
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-Current'
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants'
HK Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial
(Revised) Statements Classification by
the Borrower of a Term Loan
that Contains a Repayment
on Demand Clause'
Amendments to HKAS 7

and HKFRS 7

Supplier Finance Arrangements'

Amendments to HKFRS 16  Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback’

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2024

The Group has already commenced an assessment of the
impact of adopting the above amendments to HKFRSs on
the Group’s results and financial position in the first year of
application. The directors of the Company anticipate that
the application of these amendments to HKFRSs will have no
material impact on the Group’s financial performance and
positions and/or the disclosure to these consolidated financial
statements of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47

2

ADOPTION OF HKFRSS (continued)

(c)

New HKICPA guidance on the accounting
implications of the abolition of the MPF-LSP
offsetting mechanism

In June 2022, the Hong Kong SAR Government gazetted
the Employment and Retirement Schemes Legislation
(Offsetting Arrangement) (Amendment) Ordinance 2022 (the
“Amendment Ordinance”), which will come into effect from
1 May 2025 (the “Transition Date”). Once the Amendment
Ordinance takes effect, an employer can no longer use
any of the accrued benefits derived from its mandatory
contributions to mandatory provident fund (“MPF”) scheme
to reduce the long service payment (“LSP") in respect of an
employee’s service from the Transition Date. In addition,
the LSP in respect of the service before the Transition Date
will be calculated based on the employee’s monthly salary
immediately before the Transition Date and the number of
years of employee’s service up to that date.

In July 2023, the HKICPA published “Accounting implications
of the abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting mechanism in
Hong Kong” that provides accounting guidance relating
to the offsetting mechanism and the abolition of the

mechanism.

The Group has not recognised any cumulative catch-up
adjustment in profit or loss for the service cost and interest
expense for the year ended 31 March 2023 as the difference
at the enactment date (16 June 2022) between the carrying
amount of the LSP liability calculated under paragraph
93(b) of HKAS 19 Employee Benefits (“HKAS 19") before
the abolition and the carrying amount of the LSP liability
calculated under paragraph 93(a) of HKAS 19 after the
abolition is immaterial. Application of the guidance had no
material effect on the consolidated financial statements of
the Group.
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4.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4R & B/ 75 ¥ 2% i &

BASIS OF PREPARATION

(a)

(b)

()

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with all applicable HKFRSs, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations
(hereinafter collectively referred to as the “HKFRSs”) and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. In addition, the consolidated financial statements
include applicable disclosures required by the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock
Exchange.

Basis of measurement
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost basis.

Functional and presentation currency

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollar (“HK$"), which is the same as the functional
currency of the Company. These consolidated financial
statements are presented in thousands of units of Hong
Kong dollars (HK$’000), unless otherwise stated.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial
statements of the Group. Inter-company transactions and
balances between group companies together with unrealised
profits are eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated
financial statements. Unrealised losses are also eliminated
unless the transaction provides evidence of impairment on
the asset transferred, in which case the loss is recognised in
profit or loss.

3. RBEHE

(a)

(b)

(c)

(a)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4R &

4. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued
(b) Subsidiaries

(c)

A subsidiary is an investee over which the Company is able
to exercise control. The Company controls an investee if all
three of the following elements are present: power over
the investee, exposure, or rights, to variable returns from
the investee, and the ability to use its power to affect those
variable returns. Control is reassessed whenever facts and
circumstances indicate that there may be a change in any of
these elements of control.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, investments
in subsidiaries are stated at cost less impairment loss, if any.
The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company
on the basis of dividend received and receivable.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment
losses.

The cost of property, plant and equipment includes its
purchase price and the costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when
it is probable that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced
part is derecognised.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated so as to
write off their cost net of expected residual value over their
estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. The useful
lives, residual value and depreciation method are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting
period. The useful lives are as follows:
Leasehold improvements 4 years or over the lease terms,
whichever is shorter
Furniture, fixtures and
equipment

5 years

An asset is written down immediately to its recoverable
amount if its carrying amount is higher than the asset’s
estimated recoverable amount.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & 57 7 %5 & K &+

4. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued 4.
(d) Leasing

ST BR w0
(d) HE

All leases (irrespective of they are operating leases or finance
leases) are required to be capitalised in the consolidated
statement of financial position as right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities, except the leases which are short-term leases.
The lease payments associated with those leases have been
expensed on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use asset

The right-of-use asset should be initially recognised at
cost and would comprise: (i) the amount of the initial
measurement of the lease liability (see below for the
accounting policy to account for lease liability); (ii) any
lease payments made at or before the commencement
date, less any lease incentives received; (iii) any initial direct
costs incurred by the lessee; and (iv) an estimate of costs
to be incurred by the lessee in dismantling and removing
the underlying asset to the condition required by the terms
and conditions of the lease. The Group measures the
right-of-use assets applying a cost model. Under the cost
model, the right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liability.

Right-of-use assets are subsequently depreciated over the
shorter of the remaining lease term.

Lease liability

The lease liability is initially recognised at the present
value of the lease payments that are not paid at the date
of commencement of the lease. The lease payments are
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease, if that
rate can be readily determined. If that rate cannot be readily
determined, which is generally the case of the Group, the
Group uses the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate.

The following payments for the right to use the underlying
asset during the lease term that are not paid at the
commencement date of the lease are considered to be
lease payments: (i) fixed payments less any lease incentives
receivable; (ii) variable lease payments that depend on an
index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as
at commencement date; (iii) amounts expected to be payable
by the lessee under residual value guarantees; (iv) the
exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee is reasonably
certain to exercise that option; and (v) payments of penalties
for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the lessee
exercising an option to terminate the lease.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 454 B 7 3R & B 3%

4. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (ontinued)

(d)

LeaSing (continued)

Lease |Iab|||ty (Continued)

Subsequent to the commencement date, the Group
measures the lease liability by: (i) increasing the carrying
amount to reflect interest on the lease liability; (ii) reducing
the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made;
and (iii) remeasuring the carrying amount to reflect any
reassessment or lease modifications, e.g., a change in future
lease payments arising from change in an index or rate, a
change in the lease term, a change in the in-substance fixed
lease payments or a change in assessment to purchase the
underlying asset.

When the group renegotiates the contractual terms of a
lease with the lessor, the accounting depends on the nature
of the modification:

o if the renegotiation results in one or more additional
assets being leased for an amount commensurate with
the standalone price for the additional rights-of-use
obtained, the modification is accounted for as a
separate lease in accordance with the above policy.

o in all other cases where the renegotiation increases
the scope of the lease (whether that is an extension
to the lease term, or one or more additional assets
being leased), the lease liability is remeasured using
the discount rate applicable on the modification date,
with the right-of-use asset being adjusted by the same
amount.

o if the renegotiation results in a decrease in the scope
of the lease, both the carrying amount of the lease
liability and right-of-use asset are reduced by the same
proportion to reflect the partial of full termination
of the lease with any difference recognised in profit
or loss. The lease liability is then further adjusted to
ensure its carrying amount reflects the amount of
the renegotiated payments over the renegotiated
term, with the modified lease payments discounted
at the rate applicable on the modification date. The
right-of-use asset is adjusted by the same amount.

The Group presents lease liabilities separately in the
consolidated statement of financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4; & B 7% ¥ 2% B 5

4. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(e)

(f)

Impairment of other assets (other than
financial assets)

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and investments in subsidiaries to
determine whether there is any indication that those
assets have suffered an impairment loss or an impairment
loss previously recognised no longer exists or may have
decreased.

If the recoverable amount (i.e. the greater of the fair
value less costs of disposal and value in use) of an asset is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. An
impairment loss is recognised as an expense immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate
of its recoverable amount to the extent that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised as income immediately.

Value in use is based on the estimated future cash flows
expected to be derived from the asset or cash-generating
units (“CGUs"), discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset
or CGU.

A CGU is the smallest identifiable group of assets that
generates cash inflows that are largely independent of the
cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets.

Inventories

Inventories are initially recognised at cost, and subsequently
at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises
all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other costs
incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location
and condition. Cost is calculated using the first-in first-out
method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated
costs necessary to make the sale.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 424 B 7% 3R 3= B 3+

4. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (ontinued)

(g) Financial instruments

(i)

(i)

Financial assets

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable
without a significant financing component) is initially
measured at fair value plus transaction costs that are
directly attributable to its acquisition or issue. A trade
receivable without a significant financing component is
initially measured at the transaction price.

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows where those cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest
are measured at amortised cost. Financial assets at
amortised cost are subsequently measured using the
effective interest method. Interest income, foreign
exchange gains and losses and impairment are
recognised in profit or loss. Any gains or losses on
derecognition is recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment loss on financial assets

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected
credit loss ("ECLs”) on trade receivables, other
receivables and other financial assets measured at
amortised cost. The ECLs are measured on either of
the following bases: (1) 12-month ECLs: these are the
ECLs that result from possible default events within
the 12 months after the end of the reporting period;
and (2) lifetime ECLs: these are ECLs that result from
all possible default events over the expected life of a
financial instrument. The maximum period considered
when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual
period over which the Group is exposed to credit risk.

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses. Credit losses are measured as the difference
between all contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and all the cash
flows that the Group expects to receive. The shortfall
is then discounted at an approximation to the assets’
original effective interest rate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4; & B 7% ¥ 2% B 5

4. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(g) Financial instruments (continued)

(i)

Impairment loss on financial

assets (continued)

The Group has elected to measure loss allowances
for trade receivables using HKFRS 9 Financial
Instruments ("HKFRS 9”) simplified approach and has
calculated ECLs based on lifetime ECLs. The Group
has established a provision matrix that is based on the
Group's historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the
economic environment.

For other receivables and other financial assets, the
ECLs are based on the 12-month ECLs. However, when
there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
origination, the allowance will be based on the lifetime
ECLs.

When determining whether the credit risk of a
financial asset has increased significantly since initial
recognition and when estimating ECLs, the Group
considers reasonable and supportable information
that is relevant and available without undue cost or
effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative
information analysis, based on the Group’s historical
experience and informed credit assessment and
including forward-looking information.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial
asset has increased significantly if it is more than 30
days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset to be
credit-impaired when: (1) the borrower is unlikely to
pay its credit obligations to the Group in full, without
recourse by the Group to actions such as realising
security (if any is held); or (2) the financial asset is
more than 90 days past due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 424 B 7% 3R 3= B 3+

4. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (ontinued)

(g) Financial instruments (continued)

(ii)

Impairment loss on financial

assets (continued)

Interest income on credit-impaired financial assets is
calculated based on the amortised cost (i.e. the gross
carrying amount less loss allowance) of the financial
asset. For non credit-impaired financial assets interest
income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount.

Depending on the nature of the financial instruments,
the assessment of a significant increase in credit risk is
performed on either an individual basis or a collective
basis. When the assessment is performed on a
collective basis, the financial instruments are grouped
based on shared credit risk characteristics, such as past
due status and credit risk ratings.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss
in profit or loss for all financial instruments with a
corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount
through a loss allowance account.

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the debtor is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect
of recovery. Financial assets written off may still be
subject to enforcement activities under the Company's
recovery procedures, taking into account legal
advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made are
recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 4 Bf 78 3R 2= Bif =

4. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued
(g) Financial instruments (continued)
(iii) Financial liabilities

(iv)

(v)

The Group classifies its financial liabilities at amortised
cost. Financial liabilities at amortised cost including
trade and other payables are subsequently measured
at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.
The related interest expense is recognised in profit or
loss.

Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss when
the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the
amortisation process.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue
costs.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the
contractual rights to the future cash flows in relation
to the financial asset expire or when the financial
asset has been transferred and the transfer meets the
criteria for derecognition in accordance with HKFRS 9.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the
obligation specified in the relevant contract is
discharged, cancelled or expires.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 424 B 7% 3R 3= B 3+

4. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (ontinued)

(h)

Income tax
Income taxes comprise current tax and deferred tax. Income
taxes are recognised in profit or loss.

Current tax is based on the profit or loss from ordinary
activities adjusted for items that are non-assessable or
disallowable for income tax purposes and is calculated using
tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted
at the end of reporting period. The amount of current tax
payable or receivable is the best estimate of the tax amount
expected to be paid or received that reflects any uncertainty
related to income tax.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for
financial reporting purposes and the corresponding amounts
used for tax purposes. Deferred tax assets also arisen from
unused tax losses and unused tax credits. Deferred tax assets
are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profits will be available against which deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Deferred tax is measured at the
tax rates appropriate to the expected manner in which the
carrying amount of the asset or liability is realised or settled
and that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the
end of the reporting period and reflects any uncertainty
related to income taxes.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
each end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits
will be available to allow all or part of the assets to be
recovered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4; & B 7% ¥ 2% B 5

4. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

()

Revenue and other income recognition

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it arises
from the sales of goods in the ordinary course of the Group’s
business.

The Group is the principal for its revenue transactions and
recognises revenue on a gross basis. In determining whether
the Group acts as a principal or as an agent, it considers
whether it obtains control of the products before they are
transferred to the customers. Control refers to the Group’s
ability to direct the use of and obtain substantially all of the
remaining benefits from the products. Revenue is recognised
when control of goods is transferred to the customers at an
amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods. Revenue
excludes value added taxes or other sales taxes and is after
deduction of any trade discounts.

Further details of the Group’s recognition policies for revenue
and other income are as follows:

(i) Sales of lighting and furniture products
and tableware and giftware products
The revenue derived from sales of lighting and
furniture products and tableware and giftware
products is recognised at a point in time when
control of the goods has transferred to the customer.
This is generally when the goods are delivered to
the customer and when the customers accept the
products. There is generally only one performance
obligation. The Group also provides installations
services to the customers and these revenue is
recognised at a point in time upon the completion
of installation and customer acceptance. Invoices are
usually payable within 30 days.

(ii) Other income
a) Interest income is accrued on a time-apportioned
basis by reference to the principal outstanding
at the applicable interest rate.

b) Government grants are not recognised until
there is reasonable assurance that the Group will
comply with the conditions attaching to them
and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or
loss on a systematic basis over the periods in
which the Group recognises as expenses the
related costs for which the grants are intended
to compensate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 424 B 7% 3R 3= B 3+

4. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (ontinued)

()

(k)

Contract liabilities

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer goods to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due)
from the customer.

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays
consideration before the Group recognises the related
revenue. A contract liability would also be recognised if the
Group has an unconditional right to receive consideration
before the Group recognises the related revenue. In such
cases, a corresponding receivable would also be recognised.

Employee benefits

(i) Short-term employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits are employee benefits
(other than termination benefits) that are expected
to be settled wholly before twelve months after the
end of the annual reporting period in which the
employees render the related service. Short-term
employee benefits are recognised in the period when
the employees render the related service.

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised
when they accrue to employees. A provision is made
for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result
of services rendered by employees up to the end of
the reporting period.

Non-accumulating compensated absence such as sick
leave and maternity leave are not recognised until the
time of leave.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4; & B 7% ¥ 2% B 5

4. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(k) Employee benefits (continued)

0]

(ii) Defined contribution retirement plan
Retirement benefits to employees are provided through
defined contribution plan. The Group operates a
defined contribution retirement benefit scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance, for all its employees who are
eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. The MPF
Scheme is administered by independent trustees. Under
the MPF scheme, the employer and its employees are
each required to make contributions to the plan at 5%
of the employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of
monthly relevant income of HK$30,000. The Group has
no further payment obligations once the contributions
have been paid. Contributions to the MPF Scheme are
recognised as an expense in profit of loss when the
services are rendered by the employees.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing
or amount when the Group has a legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, which will
probably result in an outflow of economic benefits that can
be reasonably estimated.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated
reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability,
unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote. Possible obligations, the existence of which will only
be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or
more future events, are also disclosed as contingent liabilities
unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4R &

4. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (ontinued
(m) Related parties
(a) A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of key management personnel of
the Group or the Company’s parent.

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions apply:

@)

(if)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others);

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is
a member);

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party;

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the third
entity;

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of the employees of the Group or an
entity related to the Group;

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of key
management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity); or

The entity, or any member of a group of which
it is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Company or to the Company’s
parent.
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5.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4; & B 7% ¥ 2% B 5

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, the directors
are required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors
that are considered to be relevant. Actual results differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods
if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

In addition to information disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated
financial statements, other key sources of estimation uncertainty
that have a significant risk of resulting a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within next financial year
are as follows:

(a) Impairment of property, plant and

equipment and right-of-use assets

The Group reviews internal and external sources of
information at the end of each reporting period to identify
indications that assets may be impaired or an impairment
loss previously recognised no longer exists or may have
decreased, except in the case of goodwill. The Group
estimates the asset’s recoverable amount when any such
indication exists. The recoverable amount of an asset, or of
the CGU to which it belongs, is the greater of its fair value
less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and these risks specific to the assets. The preparation of
projected future cash flows involves the estimation of future
revenue and operating costs which are based on reasonable
assumptions supported by information available to the
Group. Changes in the estimates would result in additional
impairment provisions or reversal of impairment in future
years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 424 B 7% 3R 3= B 3+

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS 5. ERSHHERGESTEE
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION EZ2FERFEw
U NCERTAI NTY (continued)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued) A TRERZEZETERR®
(b) Provision for inventories (b) FERHE

The Group reviews and identifies at the end of each
financial period, provision for inventories (if any) is based
on recent sales performance, management experience with
characteristic customer purchase behaviour and assessment
of the product’'s alignment with current market trend.
The management estimates the net realisable value for
inventories based primarily on the latest market prices and
current market conditions. The assessment of the provision
amount required involves management judgement and
estimates. Where the actual outcome or expectation in future
is different from the original estimate, such differences
will impact the carrying value of inventories and provision
charge/written back in the period in which the estimate has
been changed.

Estimated impairment of trade receivables
The Group recognises lifetime ECLs for trade receivables,
using a provision matrix based on the Group’s historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to
the debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment
of both the current as well as the forecast direction of
conditions at the end of the reporting period. The amount
of the impairment loss based on ECLs model is measured as
the difference between all contractual cash flows that are
due to the Group in accordance with the contract and all the
cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at
the effective interest rate determined at initial recognition.
Where the future cash flows are less than expected, or
being revised downward due to changes in facts and
circumstances, a material impairment loss may arise.

Taxation

Determining income tax provisions involves judgement on
the future tax treatment of certain transactions. The Group
carefully evaluates tax implications of transactions, and tax
provisions are set up accordingly. The tax treatment of such
transactions is reconsidered periodically to take into account
all changes in tax legislations. Where the final tax outcome
of these transactions is different from the amounts that were
initially recorded, such difference will impact the income
tax and deferred tax provisions in the year in which such
determination is made.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 4 Bf 78 3R 2= Bif =

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION

U NCERTAI NTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

(d) Taxation (continued)
Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences and all unused tax losses to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary differences and the unused
tax losses can be utilised. Significant management judgement
is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets
that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and
level of future taxable profits, which affects the probability
of utilisation and tax rate to be used in the calculations.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with
the internal reporting, in accordance with the Group's internal
organisation and reporting structure, provided to the chief
operating decision-maker to make strategic decisions and for
review of the performance of those components.

The Group has two reportable segments. The segments are
managed separately as each business offers different products
and requires different business strategies. The following summary
describes the operations in each of the Group’s reportable
segments:

Lighting and furniture . retail of lighting products and
business household furniture in Hong Kong
Tableware, giftware and . retail and wholesale of tableware

other business and giftware and other trading

Inter-segment transactions are priced with reference to prices
charged to external parties for similar order. Central revenue and
expenses are not allocated to the operating segments as they are
not included in the measure of the segments’ profit that is used
by the chief operating decision-maker for assessment of segment
performance.
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EZ2FERFE@®

A THEEEZEZEERR@

(d) B w
EHEBUREESERT G - WK H
AT SR ERE R AE AR IEREE R
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BRI B % ERBR T E AR RERRE Rk
B (BeyEEHEMA e R EU
BEFTE) (ELERRHIE -

%‘%E’]W%ﬁi ,ﬁ%&ﬁ%%%k %E% L/?%
RENFERBRREREMNZSEKRS DX

AEEHREMETRSE D - AR S EBIRM

TRERRFTETAEBER BAEESHB2

BIRTENELET AEEZTRES B2

EBHmaT

ok I EEE RERBTERME
m M KA

BH ERREMER  TERIBZAR
ERUAREME
2

DEER S 2B TREQ%JE*EﬂJ\uTﬁﬁM\“B/\
THEMZBREE - PREARAZL TS
EReNH RASEIELERARER 3HE
DEHREBL ANRIEMAN D BEFNFTESD -

SHPAEEERERAT 2023/24F K

99



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 424 B 7% 3R 3= B 3+

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continueq) 6. DEHER W
(a) Business segment (a) ¥¥HE
For the year ended 31 March 2024 BE_Z_NWF=A=1+—HIFE

Lightin  Tableware,

and giftware
furniture and other
business business Total
Bk EH- 2R
RAEK REMER “at
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FExT FET
Revenue from external customers KRB INBE P W 74,347 - 74,347
Reportable segment result BIEGE=a i 5,833 - 5,833
Other segment information: HibpBER :
Depreciation of property, WE - BERZETE
plant and equipment 357 - 357
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEENE 14,429 - 14,429
Impairment loss on property, W - WERZERE
plant and equipment 518 95 - 95
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets EREEEREER 6,831 - 6,831
Additions to property, plant and equipment FE Y ¥ - BiFE &R & 46 - 46
Expected credit losses recognised on trade & U 3% 18 Fz EL b e U 5k 18
and other receivables WRHEHREEERE 36 - 36
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & 57 7 %5 & K &+

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

6. THER

(a) Business segment (continued) (a) ¥B5Ew
For the year ended 31 March 2023 BE—_T-_=F=A=1+—HILEE
Lighting Tableware,
and giftware
furniture and other
business business Total
Bk ER-E&
REXEKE REMED @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET FET
Revenue from external customers KB INBE P W 78,903 24 78,927
Reportable segment result EE e 13,490 (1,943) 11,547
Other segment information: Hibp BER :
Depreciation of property, ME - BERREITE
plant and equipment 295 - 295
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 15,769 - 15,769
Impairment loss on property, M - WERZERE
plant and equipment E1E 58 - 58
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets FEREEEREERRE 2,411 - 2,411
Additions to property, plant and equipment RE ¥ - HE & B # 615 - 615
Additions to right-of-use assets NERRAEEE 6,168 - 6,168
Expected credit losses recognised on trade & U3 18 & H 4th fig U 50 18
and other receivables BARANEBREEEE 18 1,585 1,603
ERAEEZERER AR 2023/245F K
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 424 B 7% 3R 3= B 3+

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. DEER @
(b) Reconciliation of reportable segment results (b) ATHEDBEEBE2HEE
2024 2023
—E-mF —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FHET
Reportable segment result CIE:S=ha= 4 5,833 1115547
Interest on lease liabilities HEBENE (1,877) (924)
Unallocated warehousing and general office &9 & Fﬁ&#})#’“*ﬁrﬁfi
expenses (11,363) (12,496)
Other unallocated corporate expenses (note) Eth k2 B %5 = (M E) (3,106) (4,599)
Consolidated loss before income tax BT T pI4R A 18 (10,513) (6,472)
Note: Other unallocated corporate expenses mainly consist of sk : H A PR XY T EaiEE%EH
professional expenses and other administrative expenses. REMITHAY -
(c) Segment assets and liabilities () "HEERERE
2024 2023
“EME —EC-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FET
Assets BE
Lighting and furniture business B R REER 31,248 49,580
Tableware, giftware and other business ER -BRRHMER 3 21
Consolidated total assets GEBEE 31,251 49,601
Liabilities =R
Lighting and furniture business [k I EEEE 3 21,417 28,420
Tableware, giftware and other business BA ERREMES 1,145 981
Consolidated total liabilities REBAaE 22,562 29,401
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4; & B 7% ¥ 2% B 5

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(d) Geographic information
No geographical information was presented for the years
ended 31 March 2024 and 2023 as the Group’s revenue
was derived from activities in Hong Kong (place of domicile).
Also, the Group’s non-current assets are located in Hong
Kong.

(e) Information about major customers
The Group had no customer for whom the revenue raised
individually accounted for more than 10% of the Group’s
total revenue during the year ended 31 March 2024 (2023:

DEER @

(d) #HEER
HRASEENKRERERES (G i)
MEXEFS MU EZINEBEE-_ZT -
FR-_E_=F=ZA=+—HILFEHN
I E R o ILIN  NREBBOIETRBEEN

(e) EBEXEZFMESR
AEBVHENESEBHAEEANREEZ
TNF=ZA=t+—HLEFELKRES
10%NEF(ZT_=F : #) o

Nil).
REVENUE 7. Wi
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by REBMREZNZFEIADNEFE A DU
products and timing of revenue recognition are as follows: SHIMR
2024 2023
—EE —T_=%
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET
Revenue from contracts with customers: BEFEEHWE
Sales of lighting and furniture products HEEH KK EE MR 74,347 78,903
Sales of tableware and giftware and HEZARERUAREMESR
other products - 24
74,347 78,927
Timing of revenue recognition: BRRENER :
At a point in time EE R 74,347 78,927
ERPFEEZRERAT 2023/245FH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 424 B 7% 3R 3= B 3+

8. OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES 8. HMWA - -h&mKkEE
2024 2023
S Dlae rves — = A=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Government grants (note a) B #6 B (Bff 5%a) - 1,124
Insurance compensation (note b) RB& B E (fFsEb) 635 -
Others Hith 278 504
913 1,628

Notes: ML -

(@) The amount represented the government grants obtained from

(a) BHE-Z-=F=-A=+—HILFEZESHEA

EAFBATREBA#ELOHEREES TH

Employment Support Scheme under the Anti-epidemic Fund launched
by the Hong Kong SAR Government supporting the payroll of the
Group's employees for the year ended 31 March 2023. The Group did EAT o
not have any unfulfilled obligations relating to this scheme.

RUEFBNBAHE U HAEBETH
B REEYBEMAKBERORET

(b)  The Group recognised insurance compensation of HK$635,000 (2023: by HEZFT-_NF=A=+—BILFE r5E
Nil), received from the insurance company for heavy rainstorms during BRI B RBABIRERRBHOREEFEE
the year ended 31 March 2024. 63500087 (ZF =% : &) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 41 &

B 76 3 3R MY A

9. LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX 9. BREFEHAIERE
Loss before income tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting): BRETERABEE g (Ee) :
2024 2023
—E_-E —E - =E
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FH& T
Auditor’s remuneration (2 Gl 710 730
Carrying amount of inventories sold EHFEREME 29,400 29,069
Written-off of inventories WETE 374 -
(Reversal of)/provision for impairment loss on 77 &R EEE (BRE) BE
inventories (131) 31
Cost of inventories recognised as expenses BRAEAIHFEERA 29,643 29,100
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 1% - & &R EITE 357 295
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 14,429 15,769
Expected credit losses recognised on RTINS EZEHREEEBRR
— trade receivables - FEWGRIA 36 18
— other receivables — H b FEUGRIA - 1,585
10. EMPLOYEE COSTS 10. IEE A
2024 2023
—EIMEF —EZ=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHExT FET
Employee costs (including directors’ EERAN (BEESHH)
emoluments) comprise: B
Salaries and other benefits e R HEMEF 17,239 19,583
Contributions to defined contribution M) E 88 FOR G 8 2 it 5K
retirement plan (note) (Pt &%) 588 629
17,827 20,212

Note: For the year ended 31 March 2024, no forfeited contribution in
respect of the defined contribution retirement plan was utilised by
the Group to reduce the contribution payable to the plan (2023: Nil).
As at 31 March 2024, no forfeited contribution under this plan is
available to reduce future contribution (2023: Nil).

AT AR 2K

M BE_T_HWNEF=ZA=+—RLFE K~&EH
BB A SRR BOR IRET 18R R AR A
ERHEHER(CTE_=F8) - R _FT N
FZA=Z1+—8 HFEETHEDRKHRK

B (ZB-=F &) o

ERAKEZERERAA

2023/24F %

105



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 43 & B 7% 3 2= B 5%

11. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE M. EFFMRAEBRESFMAL
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS
(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) EEZHM
Executive directors: HITES .
The emoluments paid or payable to executive directors RAREEEXNHENTHRITESNE
during the year are as follows: Ban R :

Contributions
to defined
Salaries contribution

and other retirement
Fees benefits plan Total
o) 3 88 it
FeR BIKGHEIZ
ik Hitt Rl A st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THER THER THER THER
Year ended 31 March 2024 HZE-Z-_MFE=A=+-AL
FE
Hui Kwok Keung, Raymond ~ ZFElc% - 2,220 18 2,238
Hue Kwok Chiu FFE - 644 18 662
Hui Kwok Wing REETES - 500 18 518
- 3,364 54 3,418
Year ended 31 March 2023  HZE-T_=F=FA=+—HIt
FE
Hui Kwok Keung, Raymond ~ zFElg4 - 3,721 18 3,739
Hue Kwok Chiu FrEl £ - 1,353 18 1,371
Hui Kwok Wing FEE - 570 18 588
- 5,644 54 5,698
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4r & B7 75 ¥ 2% i 5

11. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS (continued)
(a) Directors’ emoluments (continued)
Independent non-executive directors:
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during
the year are as follows:

M. E2FHRABERSHFMA T @

(a) EEFM @
BIAFHITES !

RAFEEXNTEIFATEENE

SN

Contributions
to defined
Salaries contribution

and other retirement
Fees benefits plan Total
0 7E 88 fit &
E B2
ik Hiti R A st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR THER THER
Year ended 31 March 2024 HZ-ZE-_MF=A=+-AL
FE
Chung Wai Man EEX 180 - - 180
Leung Wai Chuen RER 180 - - 180
Yeung Mo Sheung Ann 1BEE (fisa)
(note a) 90 - - 90
Wong Long Yan Milka EHAM (M Eb)
(note b) 150 - - 150
600 - - 600
Year ended 31 March 2023  HZE-ZT_=F=FA=+—HIt
FE
Chung Wai Man EEX 180 - - 180
Leung Wai Chuen ZER 180 - - 180
Yeung Mo Sheung Ann BRIE (HEa)
(note a) 180 - - 180
540 - - 540
(a) Resigned as independent non-executive director with effect on (a) BAEBYIEHTES B -=-FX

1 June 2023.

(b) Appointed as independent non-executive director with effect
on 1 June 2023.

A—BHREX-

(b) EZERBIUNFNTESF BE-FT_=

FRA—HBRER-

ERAREEZERERAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

11. DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE

HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS (ontinued)
(b) Five highest paid individuals

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the

AR % R M A

M. EEHFMRAERESHFMAL =

(b) EEBEHFMAL
AEENARERFMALFT  EFW

Group, two (2023: two) were directors of the Company
whose emoluments are included in note 11(a) above. The
emoluments of the remaining three (2023: three) highest

ARARAER(ZF

= =T ﬁﬁ%)

BENHFMESH N LXK FE11@) - BHE
=5 |G TS S = Eﬁir =3

paid individuals during the year ended 31 March 2024 are as —EABERTMALT(ZE== =4)
follows: HEHEMBDT -
2024 2023
—E-mE —T-=F
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET
Salaries and other benefits e &ﬁﬁﬂm F 1,817 1,937
Contributions to defined contribution A EBEETGRKEEIZ
retirement plan 54 54
1,871 1,991

Emoluments paid to each of above individuals for each of
the year fell within the following band:

Sh 8 4 (7 L & (B A 1 SR S
NFUATEHE :

2024 2023

—E-MmE —E-=F

No. of No. of

individuals individuals

ATHER ATHIHE

Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z£%1,000,0007% 7T 3 3

During the year ended 31 March 2024, no emoluments were
paid by the Group to the directors of the Company or the
five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or
upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office
(2023: Nil).

No directors waived or agree to waive any emoluments for
the year ended 31 March 2024 (2023: Nil).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

The amount of income tax expense in the consolidated statement

12.

of profit or loss and other comprehensive income represents:

i A B % R R Y RE

PSR
IR I8 R b 2 E RS R P HOF 8 BB X
2B -

2024 2023
kSl 111 SRS
HK$000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Current tax — Hong Kong Profits Tax BUERT A — BB RSB
— charge for the year - NFEEZH 133 228
— under-provision in respect of prior years - BEFERETR 159 105
292 333
Deferred tax (note 24) EIERTE (M 5E24) 706 40
Income tax expense s fim % 998 373
Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% EANEMNIEEAREBEEZ HEtERE
(2023: 16.5%) on the Group's estimated assessable profits arising AT E16.5% (ZE == : 16.5% ) Z{E&
in Hong Kong for the year, except for one subsidiary of the Group MEAREER—FWBATIKRIN  ZATTFEME

which is a qualifying entity under the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime. The first HK$2 million of assessable profits of the qualifying
entity is taxed at 8.25% and the remaining assessable profits are
taxed at 16.5%.

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to loss
before income tax in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income as follows:

FIFGHEHECER AEBREENERY
i A A - #2,000,0005 7T 128.25% £ F 0 M F
BRIEER i A1 B IE16.5% B FH -

FAMGHAXEES R REM2E KRS
W RIS AT EEE RN T

2024 2023

—EME —TZ=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

Loss before income tax bR PTIS T RIEE (10,513) (6,472)
Tax calculated at the applicable domestic RA M E A RTE 2 T

tax rate (1,735) (1,068)

Tax effect of temporary differences AERERMEEZFE

not recognised MEEE 1,351 777

Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purpose HB/ERR U A 2 &2 - (178)

Tax effect of tax losses not recognised AMERREBEZHGETE 1,355 980

Utilisation of tax losses previously not recognised & A 4t ij R i 72 2 B TE & 1B - (78)

Effect of two-tiered tax rate regime A I A R ) R 2 (132) (165)

Under-provision in respect of prior years BAFEREBTR 159 105

Income tax expense FISBif X 998 373

ERAREEZERERAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 424 B 7% 3R 3= B 3+

13. LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic and diluted loss per share is based on the
following data:

F 3

BREE
SREARB IR ER A TRENE -

2024 2023
—E-ME =
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THET
Loss: B8
Loss for the year attributable to KRB ABEFA
owners of the Company Eia (11,511) (6,845)
2024 2023
ZEBEIWF .
‘000 ‘000
TR F AR
Number of shares: KROHA :
Weighted average number of shares for the ETESREAREESE Y
purpose of calculating basic and diluted R RR G 8B
loss per share 451,036 451,036
Notes: Mz -
(i) Basic loss per share was calculated by dividing the loss attributable to (i) IREAREEBIERNAREE ABLER B

owners of the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary

shares in issue during the year.

(i) For the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, diluted loss per
share was the same as basic loss per share as there were no dilutive
potential ordinary shares outstanding during the years ended 31
March 2024 and 2023.

14. DIVIDENDS

The Board does not recommend payment of any dividend for the
year ended 31 March 2024, nor has any dividend been proposed
since the end of reporting period (2023: Nil).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4; & B 7% ¥ 2% B 5

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. 1% - BMERZHE
Furniture,
Leasehold fixtures and
improvements equipment Total
HEWE RE -#£8
#1E k& et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FE T FET FHET
Cost 2%
As at 1 April 2022 R-ZE-_—_FWA—H 5,327 1,949 7,276
Additions NE 458 157 615
Written-off it 58 (360) (67) (427)
As at 31 March 2023 and R-ZE-_=F=A=+—8BxF
1 April 2023 —E-=FMA—H 5,425 2,039 7,464
Additions NE - 46 46
As at 31 March 2024 R-ZZE-_WNF=A=+—H 5,425 2,085 7,510

Accumulated depreciation and Rt ERBEEE
impairment losses

As at 1 April 2022 R-ZZE-_—_FMWA—H 5,028 1,865 6,893
Depreciation weE 240 55 295
Impairment loss recognised (note) & {E /&5 18 /& 32 (B &) 41 17 58
Written-off T (360) (67) (427)
As at 31 March 2023 and RZEZ=ZF=ZA=+—HK
1 April 2023 ZEZ=F1A—H 4,949 1,870 6,819
Depreciation e 284 73 357
Impairment loss recognised (note) JFi A &5 B2 (i 5E) 5 90 95
As at 31 March 2024 R-_E_WNF=A=+—H 5,238 2,033 7,271
Net book value REFEE
As at 31 March 2024 R-_E_WNF=A=+—H 187 52 239
As at 31 March 2023 R-ZE-_=F#=ZA=+—H 476 169 645
Note: MEEE -
The impairment loss related to property, plant and equipment approximately AREECHREBYE BMELREBEOREBRED
to HK$95,000 (2023: HK$58,000) have been recognised during the year. For 95,000/ 7T (—ZF — =4 : 58,0005 70) ° mtiE (& 8=
the purpose of impairment testing, retail shops of the Group are determined Ms ANEBNZEEHEERABHSELER - K
as CGUs. The impairment loss attributable to those CGUs was then allocated BZEHRAEAEUZREERERNCIREXERS
to write down the assets in the CGUs (including right-of-use assets (note 16) EXBENNEE (BIEFEREESE (Mix16) REEY
and related property, plant and equipment). ¥ HENMEE) -

SHPAEEERERAT 2023/24F K 111
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16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 424 B 7% 3R 3= B 3+

T

\[]]]H
i

16. {F FARE?

Properties
leased for
own use
BREEWE
HK$'000
FHET
Cost 2%
As at 1 April 2022 N-_E-__FWAE—H 55,576
Additions nNE 6,168
Lease modification HEERT 10,817
De-recognised IR (3,066)
As at 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023
69,495
Lease modification 8,381
As at 31 March 2024 77,876
Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses A FERBEESR
As at 1 April 2022 R-Z-—FPMA—H 36,772
Depreciation e 15,769
Impairment loss recognised (note) B T 18 TR (BT aE) 2,41
De-recognised 4R\ FRERR (3,066)
As at 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 RZEZ=F=-A=+—HEK
=/ A—H 51,886
Depreciation E 14,429
Impairment loss recognised (note) WA B EER (M) 6,831
As at 31 March 2024 R-ZEZNF=ZA=+—H 73,146
Net book value IREEE
As at 31 March 2024 R-ZEZNF=ZA=+—H 4,730
As at 31 March 2023 R-ZE-_=%=RA=+—H 17,609

Note:

The impairment loss related to right-of-use assets amounting to
HK$6,831,000 (2023: HK$2,411,000) has been recognised for the year to
write down the carrying amount of the CGUs to its recoverable amount. For
the purpose of impairment testing, the Group’s retail shops are determined
as CGUs. The impairment losses attributable to those CGUs were then

allocated to write down the assets in the CGUs (including property, plant

and equipment (note 15) and related right-of-use assets).
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17.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4; & B 7% ¥ 2% B 5

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs in which the right-of-use
assets were included have been determined from value in use
calculations based on cash flow projections of the remaining lease
periods from formally approved budgets and adopted pre-tax
discount rate of 10.64% (2023: 11.48%). The key assumptions for
the value in use calculations are budgeted gross margin of 29%
to 59% (2023: 31% to 58%), growth rate of -6.3% to 5.1%
(2023: 0% to 9.0%) and wage inflation of 3% (2023: 3%). The
budgeted gross margin and growth rate are determined based
on the CGU’s past performance and management’s expectations
regarding market development. Wage inflation has been estimated
with reference to the independent economic data published by the
Census and Statistics Department of the Government of the Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region.

Due to the continuous weak retail sentiment, the Group’s retail
stores fell short of the expected results and there have been
significant impacts to consumer sentiment and product demand,
which adversely affect the Group’s certain retail business
performance during the year ended 31 March 2024. Accordingly,

16. EREEE®w

FRAREEMBHNRESELASEMN T KD S
BILEHAEBEEETE  HDREBESEASENTE
HREEHBEENR S REER1064% (ZF
ZEF11.48% ) BRI TR EGTEB L o F R
BEFEAZNEEREZABEEENEAE29%
B59% (T =% :31%%E58%) R X
B-63%E51% (ZTZ=F : 0%E9.0%) &
TERREAI%(ZEZ=F:3%) -EE
MEREBREDEEBRSCEEBENNBAR
REEEBEMSERMNENEY TEKR
EN2EEBRINTREBBRATENAHZ
B G BB mMAR S -

HRBENEBSTERE  ASENTEEH
REFBEMES MHEEBEBERERT R
T8 SAKEHE_T_MF=ZA=1+—
Etﬁfﬂ’]%??%%i‘%ﬂ’liiﬁ ML -
Bt EHanReEEEMM G EMREE

this had an impact on the estimated value in use of certain CGUs %ﬁ%%‘i" MR E  BRENERE N E AR
and impairment losses on property, plant and equipment and BERERRE -
right-of-use assets were recognised.
INTANGIBLE ASSETS 7. B &E
Customers
relationship
EFBRE
HK$’000
FExT
Cost 2%
As at 1 April 2022, 31 March 2023, RZZTE-_—_FWYH—H"
1 April 2023 and 31 March 2024 T =F=A=+—H"
—E_=FWHA-HBHR
—E_MFE=RA=+—H 8,041
Accumulated amortisation and impairment losses At EBERRERSS
As at 1 April 2022, 31 March 2023, R-ZZTE__FWH—H"
1 April 2023 and 31 March 2024 —Z=F-HA=t+—8H"
—E=FEA-AR
—ECNFE=A=+—H 8,041
Net book value REEE
As at 31 March 2023 and 2024 RZZZ=FR_ZT-_NF=A=+—H -
ERAEEZERER AR 2023/245F K
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18. GOODWILL 18. B &
HK$'000
FET
Cost 2%
As at 1 April 2022, 31 March 2023, RZE-_—_FmMA—H -
1 April 2023 and 31 March 2024 == =S Raar— A
—E-=FWMA—HRK
—ZT-WmFE=A=+—H 36,906
Accumulated impairment losses 2P REESE
As at 1 April 2022, 31 March 2023, R-ZE-_—_FWMA—H -
1 April 2023 and 31 March 2024 —E-_Zf#=ZfF=+—8"
ZEZ=FWMA—ABAK
—ZE-mMFE=A=+—H 36,906
Net book value BREEE
As at 31 March 2023 and 2024 RZZEZ=FR-_ZF_MF=A=+—H -
19. INVENTORIES 19. 78
2024 2023
—E-lmEF —T=%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FET
Merchandise P oh 13,124 14,335
Less: provision of impairment loss B ORVE S e B (1,907) (2,038)
11,217 12,297
A reversal of impairment loss of approximately HK$131,000 (2023: HE T _NME=HA=+—HIEECH®ERY
provision of impairment loss of HK$31,000) for the carrying value mEREE 2R EEERE4131,0008 T (ZF
of merchandise have been recognised during the year ended 31 C=F - HMAEBEEE31,0008T) c BRET
March 2024. The impairment provision was made for the slow Bk REEREEHEBESHTESHMSBAEE
moving of certain lighting and household furniture products as a B8 W{EL RE R -

result of change in consumer preferences.
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20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 20. FEWFRTE K HAh B W FRIE
2024 2023
—E-mE —E=F
HK$000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Trade receivables, net FE R IR F 5 289 219
Deposits and other receivables R & & E WK 6,953 6,748
Prepayments TEf IR 1,443 1,215
8,685 8,182
Less: non-current — rental deposits B EENE - ERS (1,239) (4,722)
7,446 3,460
Trade receivables are non-interest bearing. The average credit FEWRZEATE - HEEMHNFEHEEDR
period on sales of goods is ranged from 0 — 30 days from invoice BEEHEINTOE3I0K - RIREHAR K - J’EH&
date. At the end of reporting period, ageing analysis of the A (FNBR R (E E518399,0008 L (ZE =4 :
trade receivables net of impairment losses of HK$399,000 (2023: 363,000/ 70) ) IR B ZHEHIMERE ST T -

HK$363,000), based on invoice date, is as follows:

2024 2023
1 S S
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Within 30 days 30K 114 102
31 to 90 days 31£290K 98 63
91 to 180 days 91£2180K 61 44
Over 180 days HBiE180K 16 10
289 219
The Group assessed impairment loss based on the accounting policy AN EAR B M 5E4Q) (D FT &L A B & 5T IR FE (G
as stated in note 4(g)(ii). The Group did not hold any collateral as B BT B o AN 52 B 00 A gk FE R IB S B R R
security or other credit enhancement over the trade receivables. MO EAEEEMEZEEREE - BELAE
Further details on the Group’s credit policy and credit risk arising EEERFELKREEKRZEBNEZEERLE—
from trade receivables are set out in note 29(b). A 15 &R #E29(b)
Included in deposits and other receivables were rental and utility e MKEILE 46,138,000 TE st AL E K&
deposits of approximately HK$6,138,000 (2023: HK$6,147,000). Hh W RIB(ZZE = =4 : 6,147,000/ 7T) °
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\

21. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 21. B FEREMESFE

2024 2023

= L arirs = = &=

HK$000 HK$'000

FExT FHT

Trade payables FE 1~ XA 3,527 2,593
Accruals and other payables FE 5T 5RIR K B b FE 3R IR 3,578 3,874
7,105 6,467

Trade payables are non-interest bearing. The Group is normally
granted credit terms ranging from 30 to 180 days. At the end of
reporting period, ageing analysis of the trade payables, based on
invoice date, is as follows:

BNRERSTHE - AEE - KREN F3I0E
180ORZIEEH - RME MR - B AL HE
ZRHNERRIMNT
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2024 2023

—ECOF —F_=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET F#ET

Within 30 days 30K 1,325 1,630
31 to 60 days 31260K 1,648 578
61 to 90 days 61290k 103 364
Over 90 days B0k 451 21
3,527 2,593
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22. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 22. EHEE
2024 2023
= s SEE T =4E
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T T
Contract liabilities arising from lighting and e R R B ERE A
furniture business EHEE 1,014 1,181
2024 2023
—E-NME —ET-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FH&xT TFAT
Movements in contract liabilities: AHEBENEE:
Balance at the beginning of the year FYEH 1,181 1,268
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of AFERNBERFNTARHEED
recognising revenue during the year that WaEmEHESHBERD
was included in the contract liabilities at the
beginning of the year (669) (491)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of Ak 8 & B e TE R B E B
advanced consideration received from AR B EIE N
customers 502 404
Balance at the end of the year FRER 1,014 1,181

When the Group receives sales deposits from customers before
the delivery of goods, this will give rise to contract liabilities at
the start of a contract. Contract liabilities are recognised until the
goods are delivered and accepted by the customers. The unsatisfied
performance obligations are expected to be recognised within one
year.

EARBERXNEDZANBERPNHERS
B ReBREANBBRBELEANEE -6 0
BEEENINREPER ZRER - MRE
RERBEERAR —F AR

SHPAEEERERAT 2023/24F K
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23. LEASE LIABILITIES

Nature of leasing activities (in the capacity as
lessee)

The Group leases various offices, retail shops and warehouses
under lease agreements. The lease agreements are between two
and three years. The leases of certain retail shops comprise fixed
payments and variable payments over the lease terms (call for
additional rentals), which will be based on a certain percentage
of revenue of the operation being undertaken therein pursuant
to the terms and conditions as stipulated in the respective rental
agreement.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a
wide range of different terms and conditions. The lease agreements
do not impose any covenants. Leased assets may not be used as
security for borrowing purposes.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit
in the leases. If that rate cannot be readily determined, which is
generally the case for leases in the Group, the lessee’s incremental
borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the individual lessee
would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an
asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic
environment with similar terms, security and conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group:

° where possible, uses recent third-party financing received by
the individual lessee as a starting point, adjusted to reflect
changes in financing conditions since third party financing

was received;

° uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-free interest
rate adjusted for credit risk of lessee; and

° makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g. term and
security.

E Lighting Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2023/24
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23. HE&E

HEXB 2ME (EREAHEAN)

AEBERBEEHEERAETHAE TERE
HMERE ZEHEHESPME=F -FT
ZEERNEESSNEERELBEEN KRR
FENR (BRBIEE) FRESHERES
TG W8 7T B RO R R R H IR S I B T W s
W—EBDLLEHE -

HERDREHNEELETHER  BEEZEBT
R 6 3R B R 1 - & 1 38 T & 3 02 ] 256 -
HEEETSRAERRZER -

MEFBRDEREERS ZH KRR - {EX
HEEEZNE (AEEZHEBEWL) - A
0 AR A 2 38 B A5 M & - BIE Rl AFE AR
BUKBERRRBBACUER - ERRETRE
ABRGHEEREEEZEBERAECEEMBZ
BE2MBAMN 2 E -

RETEEMERNE - KEH
. FE AT BEAR O T 2 A (B B AR AT BB S
ZEZTBEERER WFHAEMN

RMREBMGE=TRENRBRE KT Z

=

. EAZRME BESABAZEERR
HEERBRNE K

. HHEFLFEHE  MEHREM -
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23. LEASE LIABILITIES (continued) 23. HEEEw
Nature of leasing activities (in the capacity as HEXKoHE EAERBA) @
lessee) (continued)
Properties leased for own use 2024 2023
BERBEEWE —E-MmF ==t
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FHET
Balance as at 1 April REOA— Bz 21,601 20,349
Additions 1 90 - 6,168
Interest expense FE X 1,877 924
Lease payments HERNK (17,568) (16,405)
Rent concession HeEER - (252)
Effect on modification of lease term CHE - a 2 8,381 10,817
Balance as at 31 March RZA=+—B2#&#H 14,291 21,601
For the year ended 31 March 2024, the total cash outflows for the BE-_Z-_MF=-A=+BLLFE FA£H
Group’s lease arrangements amounted to HK$17,571,000 (2023: HEZHMIR SR AT R17,571,0008 7T (=
HK$16,427,000). T - =4 16,427,000 7T) °
The future lease payments of the Group's leases (excluding AEBHEE(TRERBEE) HAEHEENK
short-term leases) were scheduled to repay as follows: RErEIEROT ¢

Future lease

payments Interest Present value
RERBEERE F 2 B{E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FERT FHET
As at 31 March 2024 R-B-NME=A=+—8H
Not later than one year TER—F 12,475 (916) 11,559
Later than one year but not later ER —FENEBRAE
than five years 2,937 (205) 2,732
15,412 (1,127) 14,291
As at 31 March 2023 R=ZB=-Z=F=ZA=+—8
Not later than one year TER—F 15,074 (1,001) 14,073
Later than one year but not later EBR—FEBTERAEE
than five years 7,839 (311) 7,528
22,913 (1,312) 21,601
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23. LEASE LIABILITIES (continuea) 23. HEEBw
Nature of leasing activities (in the capacity as HEEH2HE (EAEREAN) @
IESSGE) (Continued)
The analysis of the present value of future lease payments is as RREERBZRESITAT
follows:
2024 2023
—E-mF —EZ=F
HK$000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Current liabilities MEEE 11,559 14,073
Non-current liabilities EmBAE 2,732 7,528
14,291 21,601
2024 2023
—E-E —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHE T
Short-term lease expense EHAEYH - 270
Expense relating to variable lease payments not Tt A EaBEHEZZHAE
included in the measurement of lease liabilities i Z 87z 1 3 4
Credit relating to negative variable lease TsHtATHEAGEEZABTE
payments not included in the measurement AEMZEBEER (T
of lease liabilities (note) - (252)
Note: Negative variable lease payments represent Covid-19 related rent Mz BFpHAENRAEEAARERBEEZE T ==
concessions reduced lease payments provided by lessors for the year FZA=+—HIFEHCovid-19F@NHE
ended 31 March 2023. B
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24. DEFERRED TAX

24,

The movements in the deferred tax assets during the year are as

follows:

i 3E 35 1R

Unused tax Decelerated tax

losses depreciation Total

KRB A R
BIRE 18 RIEFE et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THER FTHET FHET
As at 1 April 2022 R-_ZE-_—_#FWWA—H 744 226 970
Charged to profit or loss (note 12) REZFIE (MisE12) (30) (10) (40)

As at 31 March 2023 and R-ZEZ=F=A=+—H

1 April 2023 —E-_=FMA—H 714 216 930
Charged to profit or loss (note 12) R IBZE MR (FH:E12) (490) (216) (706)
As at 31 March 2024 R-ZZ-—m&E=A=+—H 224 - 224

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax
losses of HK$50,802,000 (2023: HK$45,557,000) available to
offset against the future taxable profit. A deferred tax asset of
HK$224,000 (2023: HK$714,000) has been recognised in respect of
tax losses of approximately HK$1,358,000 (2023: HK$4,327,000).
No deferred tax has been recognised in respect of the remaining

tax losses as it is uncertain whether future taxable profit will be

available for utilising the tax losses. Under current tax legislation,

tax losses can be carried forward indefinitely.

RBRERR  AEBEBAHAHBEEIE
50,802,0005%7% (=T = =% :45,557,000/8 7T)

HIE 8H R SR FE SR Bl A1) o B Bt 491,358,000%8
m(_ — = 14,327,000 L) M F B E B
e R LB IE & E224,0008 T (Z T — =4 -
714,000 7T) © H R B E R 2R FE SR B 7 2
GRIAREETIEEE Bkt F 4518
BIEEREEHIE - BRBEBETHE  HIEEE
A ERRHAEEAS -

25. SHARE CAPITAL 25. R
Number of Nominal value
ordinary of ordinary
shares shares
ZBERYE ZEREE
HK$'000
FHET
Authorised: EE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each as at RZE-_—_FM@MA—H "
1 April 2022, 31 March 2023, —E-=F=A=+—H
1 April 2023 and 31 March 2024 . :%:iiﬂﬁ H &
BREE0.0E T EBR 1,000,000,000 10,000
Issued and fully paid: ERITRHE:
As at 1 April 2022, 31 March 2023, R-E-_—FmA—QH -
1 April 2023 and 31 March 2024 —EZ=F=RA=+—H
CZEC-FWA—BR
—E-WNE=A=+—H 451,035,713 4,510
ERPFEEZRERAT 2023/245FH
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26. RESERVES 26. f#H@
Group rEH
Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group during the AEERFAFBEEINFBIRGEESE

year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. BRFP o
Share premium Iz 15 % 8

The share premium account of the Group represents the premium

AEBEZBMBEERKRUBEEEITRDMARS

arising from the issuance of shares at premium.

HE R

Company PN
Share Accumulated
premium losses Total
B E 25 EE wat
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FET FHET
As at 1 April 2022 R-ZE__FMWMA—H 67,066 (68,246) (1,180)
Profit and total comprehensive  4F 3% 7 [z & T Y 25 48 58
income for the year (note) (B 5E) - - -
As at 31 March 2023 and RZE-_=ZF=ZA=+—HEK
1 April 2023 —E-=ZFMA—H 67,066 (68,246) (1,180)
Profit and total comprehensive 4 X% | Jz & U 25 4258
income for the year (note) (M%) - 1 1
As at 31 March 2024 R-ZE-_NMFEF=A=+—H 67,066 (68,245) (1,179)

Note: Profit and total comprehensive income for the year amounted to
HK$810 (2023: HK$236).

MisE s FREFM R 2EREAEARI0BT(Z2 ==
F:23687T) °

122 E Lighting Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2023/24



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 4 Bf 78 3R 2= Bif =

27. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Group had the following material transactions with its related
parties during the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023:

Compensation of key management personnel
Key management personnel includes directors and senior
management. The compensation paid or payable to key
management personnel for employee services is shown below:

27. BERXRG
AEBREEZE-_ZE_NFER-_ZTE_=F=8
=T HIFEREEBETETTIEAR
5'_7:

TEEBASZHMN
IEERABOEEERSRERAR -BX
HRENFERERASORERBEHFMAT :

2024 2023

—E-NMEF —E=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

Salaries and other benefits e M H M AE A 5,773 8,503
Contributions on defined contribution M E B TR IRET 81 2 73

retirement plan 113 126

5,886 8,629

28. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY

Below summary of financial assets and financial liabilities by

28. R Bl &l o
EHBE
BRSNS CMEERSMABOMELT :

TRHEENRERME

category:
2024 2023
—E-mE —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FB T FET
Financial assets EREE
Financial assets at amortised cost: fﬁﬁﬁﬁi$§ﬂ'§ﬁ’]%%ﬂ§? :
Trade and other receivables FE MR TE K E i FE WK 7,242 6,967
Cash and bank balances Be MiRTTHEH 5,894 9,938
13,136 16,905
Financial liabilities sRas
Financial liabilities at amortised cost: HEERATENSRMEE
Trade and other payables FE A 3R TE I B At BB 5 FOIE 7,105 6,467
Other financial instruments HttemTHE
Lease liabilities HEaRE 14,291 21,601

ERAKEZERERAA

2023/24F %

123



124

29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
including foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.
The Group’s overall risk management procedures focus on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seek to minimise potential
adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.

Risk management is carried out by key management under the
policies approved by the board of directors. The Group does not
have written risk management policies. However, the directors and
senior management of the Group meet regularly to identify and
evaluate risks and to formulate strategies to manage financial risks.

Generally, the Group employs a conservative strategy regarding
its financial risk management. As the directors consider that the
Group's exposure to financial risk is kept at a minimum level,
the Group has not used any derivatives or other instruments for
hedging purposes. The most significant risks to which the Group is
exposed to are described below:

(a) Foreign currency risk

The Group undertakes certain purchase transactions
denominated in foreign currencies, hence exposure to
exchange rate fluctuations arises. The Group currently does
not have a foreign currency hedging policy. However, the
management of the Group monitors foreign exchange
exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign
currency exposure should the need arises.

The Group is mainly exposed to foreign exchange fluctuation
of the Euro (“EUR"), United States dollar (“USD") and
Renminbi (“RMB") against HKS.

Since HK$ is pegged to USD, management considers that
there is no significant foreign currency risk between these
two currencies to the Group.

The Group's trade payables denominated in EUR and RMB
are in insignificant amount at the end of each of reporting
periods. The directors are of the opinion that the volatility of
the Group's results against change in exchange rate of EUR
and RMB would not be significant. Accordingly, no sensitivity
analysis is performed.
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29. B ERERE

AEEMEBAZZEM KRR : BFEIIER
B FERBERDESRR AEBEMHERE
EREEEFHEBEUABINSRMTS LS
REEREAAEEMBREMBKELER

B 488
H 2o

REREREVAEITEEREERELEZTSHEN
BRET - AKELEEEARERREK - A
M AREEZERSRAEEETEHSE ARG
Ktz - 3 E KR e R SRR

—RMmE AKREREMBEREEZRARST
K - AN EER R AL E PTG RE R
BRNREKRTE  AREBXEEREMAITET

B H A T B (E S &k o S 3 P R ey &
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(a) HMEE =B
AEBBETE TUINEENRERS -
AmAZEREESMELENRR A%
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29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
(b) Credit risk

Credit risk includes risks resulting from counter party default
and risks of concentration. The Group’s credit risk is primarily
attributable to its trade and other receivables. Management
has a credit policy in place and the exposures to these credit
risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.

Most of the retail sales are made in cash or by credit cards.
In respect of sales on credit, the Group trades on credit only
with corporate customers who have an established trading
history with the Group. The Group has policies in place for
the control and monitoring of relevant credit risks. These
credit evaluations focus on the customer’s past history of
making payments when due and current ability to pay, and
take into account information specific to the customer as
well as pertaining to the economic environment in which the
customer operates.

As at 31 March 2024, the trade receivables from the five
largest debtors represented 38% (2023: 33%) of the total
trade receivables respectively, while the largest debtor
represented 15% (2023: 8%) of the total trade receivables
respectively.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables at
an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which is calculated using
a provision matrix or an individual basis. As the Group’s
historical credit loss experience does not indicate significantly
different loss patterns for different customer segments,
the loss allowance based on past due status is not further
distinguished between the Group’s different customer bases,
except for trade receivables assessed on an individual basis.

29. IS B B B

(b)

EERER
EERRERAEFIENRRERES M
SIEMER - AEEZEERREER
BEERREREMERRE - ERE
REGERR  IRHBEEFRAKEMRA
BEezEEERR -

HRAMONHENRERAER LG
ft-SEEHEMS  AREERAEE
BERPXSELHNATNEPETEE
oo AEEERGKERABERER
ROHEK - WEEEFHEETPREP,B
EBNHFBEZEL LRGN R ZEE
h ARERIFFPZABENEER
BEMAEN 2 EBERE

MN-ZT-_WE=A=+—H0 ARHEKE
A Z W IA (G FE W R IE 48 5838% (=
T = :33%)  MEAEHEAZER
FRIARME FEWGRIBREE15% (ZE=Z=F:
8%) °

AEBRZENFRABRBPEEBENS
BHRERBEEENEAZLEFESL)
AERKRKEBREE AR AEEN
BEEEERERIBXRATRETRL, D
MOBERAEAARER U EE
—FRAAEETRZTFHZBMNRR
BB TR B B R ME A R 2 AT R UK
N
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29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)
The following table provides information about the Group's
exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade receivables as at
31 March 2024 and 2023:

B WK M

29. B EREEE w
(b) FERKE@
TEREBERASER T _MFR =
T = =-A=+—HHREWFERMT
EREERRLBEHREESENER

Expected Gross carrying Loss

2024 loss rate amount allowance
—E_MmEF FEHEEL =X HWERTEE EEEE
HK$000 HK$'000

% FHET FExT

Not yet due K180 5 0.87 115 (1)
Overdue 1-180 days #HI1-180K 1.24 161 (2)
276 (3)

Individual assessment (EiIERE 412 (396)
688 (399)

Expected Gross carrying Loss

2023 loss rate amount allowance
—E-=F TEERE B L % ARREE EiERE
HK$'000 HK$'000

% FAT TAT

Not yet due 7 781 5P 0.97 103 (1)
Overdue 1-180 days # H31-180K 2.73 110 (3)
213 (4)

Individual assessment & B 5F 14 369 (359)
582 (363)

Expected loss rate is estimated based on actual loss
experience over the past 5 years. The rate is adjusted to
reflect differences between economic conditions during
the period over which the historic data has been collected,
current conditions and the Group's view of economic
conditions over the expected lives of the receivables.
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that has been recognlsed for trade receivables wh|ch is
measured under lifetime ECLs:

SRR E ARG N

Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
— provision - individual
matrix assessment
(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired) Total
FRABHEE FRABHEE
BB - BEERE 8- @R
(E=ERE) (FERE) Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FHET FHET FHET
As at 1 April 2022 RZZE-Z—FWMA—H 3 342 345
Impairment loss recognised  Ei{E B8R 1 17 18
As at 31 March 2023 and RZE-_=F=HA=+—H
1 April 2023 ZZF-_=4mMA—H 4 359 363
Impairment loss (reversed)/  SR{EEE (EE) H#2
recognised (1) 37 36
As at 31 March 2024 R-_T-_WE=/F=+—H 3 396 399

ERAEEERERAIA 2023/245FHK
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R

29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(c)

The Group measured loss allowance for a trade deposit
with gross carrying amount of approximately HK$2,662,000
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs as it is considered
credit-impaired in 2023. The deposit is unsecured, interest
free, repayable in one year and included in trade and
other receivables (note 20). The loss allowance for ECLs is
calculated by reference to any historical default, current
market condition in relation to the debtor’s exposure and
time value of money where appropriate. The ECLs also
incorporated forward looking information with reference to
general macroeconomic conditions that may affect the ability
of the debtors to settle the deposit. No loss allowance for
ECLs was recognised on the trade deposit for the year ended
31 March 2024 (2023; HK$1,585,000). Loss allowance has
been provided for the entire balance as at 31 March 2023
and the balance was written off as at 31 March 2024.

The credit risks on rental deposits are considered to be low
as they can be recovered by offsetting against the rental
payments.

The credit risk on cash and cash equivalents is limited
because the counterparties are reputable and creditworthy
banks.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk relates to the risk that the Group will not be
able to meet its obligations associated with its financial
liabilities and financial instruments that are settled by
delivering cash or other financial assets. The Group is
exposed to liquidity risk in respect of settlement of trade and
other payables, lease liabilities and also in respect of its cash
flow management. The cash management of all operating
entities is centralised, including the raising of funds to cover
expected cash demands. The Group’s objective is to maintain
sufficient reserves of cash to meet its liquidity requirements
in the short and longer term.
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HRREEERE AEER T ==
FRESARFRABHEEEAENSSE
T EEMEAE%2,662,000/8 T B 5%
CHEREE R RAERR 284
R — 4 N8 I R A BB U R IE K E i pE
WA (M 520) - EHIEEBIENEIE
BED2ETMNBEED BEBEAR
BAEBMEI MR RESKEEER (B
A)stE - EHEEBEBTMARMEEE
B UW2EAREYEEBALERS
THBEZEBEEERR BHE-ZT -
FZAZ+-—BLEFE YEREFHE
CHANEHEEEBRNERREE (=2
Z =4 :1,585,0008 L) - HREE=-Z
“ME=ZA=FT - ALFEVEERE
SN EHEEBERE (==
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4r & B7 75 ¥ 2% i 5

29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(c)

29. I E R EE @

Liquidity risk (continued) (0 RBELERM®
The following tables show the remaining contractual TREBEHNRBREARANEBIETES B
maturities at the end of the reporting period of the Group's BELEMERTANG TELES
non-derivative financial liabilities and other financial W iR RN £ B 0] RE M B SR N A &
instruments, based on undiscounted cash flows and the FHHEBREcREBEENABBRRERE
earliest date the Group can be required to pay. 4B o
Less than Total
1 year or 1-2 2-5 undiscounted Carrying
At 31 March 2024 on demand years years cash flows amount
R-Z-NmE DME RBEBES
=A=+-H HEEK 126 2-5% RERE REE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT TART TART TAERT FTHERT
Trade and other FE BB R E A
payables FE FRIE 7,105 - - 7,105 7,105
Lease liabilities HEAE 12,475 2,506 431 15,412 14,291
19,580 2,506 431 22,517 21,396
Less than Total
1 year or 1-2 2-5  undiscounted Carrying
At 31 March 2023 on demand years years cash flows amount
RZEZ=F DR1E RAURRE
ZA=+—H FEEK 126 2-54 mERE FREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FET FHET FHET
Trade and other PRI 5RIE R E A
payables JE R 6,467 - - 6,467 6,467
Lease liabilities HEBE 15,074 7,839 - 22,913 21,601
21,541 7,839 - 29,380 28,068
ERPFEEZRERAT 2023/245FH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 424 B 7% 3R 3= B 3+

30. NOTES SUPPORTING CONSOLIDATED 0. MEBEREXTZ2E M
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities: RETEELNBEZEHE
Lease liabilities (note 23) 2024 2023
HEAE (F723) —E-mF Sase A
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Balance at the beginning of the year FHEe 21,601 20,349
Changes from cash flows: Renes
Repayment of principal portion of EBEHREEEZAESH Y
the lease liabilities (15,691) (15,481)
Repayment of interest portion of EEHEaEIAMERS
the lease liabilities (1,877) (924)
(17,568) (16,405)
Other changes: ,HJJ@Z@J :
Interest on lease liabilities HEBER 1,877 924
Increase in lease liabilities from entering into F$¢VI§§J*ETE 5 M3 0
new leases during the year HEaE - 6,168
Rent concession HeER - (252)
Effect on modification of lease term CHEEN-ECT -2 - 8,381 10,817
10,258 17,657
Balance at the end of the year FERESH 14,291 21,601

E Lighting Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2023/24



s

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4; & B 7% ¥ 2% B 5

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group's capital management objectives are to safeguard the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide
returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders, to
maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital
and to support the Group’s stability and growth.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital
structure, taking into consideration the future capital requirements
of the Group, to ensure optimal shareholder returns.

The Group manages the capital structure and makes adjustments
to it in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk
characteristics of the underlying assets. In order to maintain or
adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of
dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue

new shares, raise new debts or sells assets to reduce debt.

The total equity to total assets ratio at the end of reporting period

il

EXRERERE

AREZAAERE EHREAREGHEE
BN RBRERHERE AR MFRABER
BERI2E - 45 AR A BB OR 0 & & AN
REHAREL BT RERL )

AEBBEREREHARTIREBEELRER  H
REBRAEBZARESTE  UHERFER
EREDR -

AEBELRAAGE LRECERREHR
HMEENRRSRE A% ARER

HEERNGER AEEREHEINTRE
MBS MERRBREEN BTHEK &
SHEBRHEEENRDES

MNEBEHROERAQREEEQBLRNT

is as follows:

2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=F
HK$000 HK$'000
FExT TET
Total equity B 8,689 20,200
Total assets BEMRTE 31,251 49,601
Total equity to total assets ratio AN EEATEL X 0.28:1 0.41:1

ERAEEZERER AR 2023/245F K
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 43 & B 75 3Rk 2% B9 3%

32. SUMMARISED FINANCIAL POSITION OF

THE COMPANY

32. AN A B F AR A

2024 2023
T g ST = 4E
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Bff = FHET T T
Non-current assets kRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries KRB R RMIEE 2,700 2,700
2,700 2,700
Current assets REBEE
Other receivable H b fE U GRIE 4 41
Bank balances and cash RITEHRERS 592 589
633 630
Total assets EEHE 3,333 3,330
Current liabilities REAE
Amounts due to related companies [ BEE N 7K IE (2) -
NET ASSETS EERE 3,331 3,330
Equity Ex
Share capital [N 25 4,510 4,510
Reserves & 26 (1,179) (1,180)
TOTAL EQUITY RSB 3,331 3,330

On behalf of the Board
RE=EZE

Hui Kwok Keung Raymond (& B 38)

Director &%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4r & B7 75 ¥ 2% i 5

33. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Group’s subsidiaries as at 31 March 2024 are as

33. B2 a&HE

AEBR_Z-_MNFE=A=+—HBZHMBEAA

follows: FHIBWT :
Issued and Attributable
fully paid share equity interest held
Place and date of capital by the Group Principal activities
Name incorporation/establishment BRETR AEEBEN and place of operation
A1 MR/ K%K A BRRE EiERAER TEXBREFXLE
Top Triumph Global Limited BVI, 20 November 2013 Us$1 100% direct Investment holding
RERAES 1% 100%E # RERR
—Z-ZF+-A=+H
Central United Global Limited BVI, 18 November 2010 Us$100 100% indirect Investment holding
RBRAHS 1003 7T 100% 5 RERR
I R WAL=
Elegant Chain Development Limited ~ BVI, 8 August 2008 Us$140 100% indirect Investment holding
RBRAHS 140% 7T 100% 5 RERR
ZZZN\ENANAB
Top Investor Global Limited BVI, 11 November 2014 Us$1 100% indirect Investment holding
RBRAHS (ETH 100% 5 RERR
ZZ-mE+—-A+—H
Central Sky Holdings Limited Hong Kong, 24 October 2003 HK$10 100% indirect Retail of lighting products in
PRERBRARA EB —FT=FTA-TEA 1057t 100% % Hong Kong
WESTEEHES
E Lighting Group Limited Hong Kong, 4 January 2011 HK$10,000 100% indirect Retail of lighting products
BR —T-—5—-AIA 10,000/ 7 100% 4% and household furniture in
Hong Kong
REEZERHERRTE
Element Lighting Design Limited Hong Kong, 11 May 2005 HK$10 100% indirect Retail of lighting products
BEARERAA BR —ZTHRERAT-A 107 7T 100% & and household furniture in
Hong Kong
REEZERHERRTE
Good Harvest Surplus Limited Hong Kong, 20 May 2011 HK$1 100% indirect Retail of lighting products
EERBRAT & —2-——FRA=+A T 100% & and household furniture in

ERAREEZERERAR

Hong Kong
REBRZERBER LKA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 454 B 7 3R & B 3%

33. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)

33. HEABAFHBw

Issued and
fully paid share

Attributable
equity interest held

Place and date of capital by the Group Principal activities
Name incorporation/establishment BERTR AEEEEN and place of operation
£ MRt B R A BRRA G R A 4 £ TEEBREEHE
RS Holdings Limited Hong Kong, 23 February 2009 HK$10,000 100% indirect Retail of lighting products
B —ZTTHAF-A=1+=8H 10,0005 70 100% and household furniture in
Hong Kong
RERZERBERRKA
228 Inc Limited Hong Kong, 6 November 2013 HK$10,000 100% indirect Retail of lighting products in
EH —T-=F+—ARA 10,0003 7T 100% % Hong Kong
RERZERBER
Culture Art Limited Hong Kong, 6 October 2014 HK$1 100% indirect Retail of lighting products
XEBRANA EE “Z-METARAE 18T 100% & # and household furniture in
Hong Kong
RERZERBERRKEA
Major Will Limited Hong Kong, 6 October 2014 HK$1 100% indirect Retail of lighting products
% ZE-NE+ARA 1T 100% % and household furniture in
Hong Kong
RERZERBERRKA
ELG Operations Limited Hong Kong, 14 October 2014 HK$1 100% indirect Sourcing of lighting products
SRASEZERRAA % ZET-NE+ATHEA 1T 100% % and household furniture
REEHERRRA
ELG Management Limited Hong Kong, 14 October 2014 HK$1 100% indirect Provision of management
SRASEERERAA EF “Z-METATHEA 1T 100% % services
REEBRY
Urban Lifestyle Limited Hong Kong, 26 November 2014 HK$1 100% indirect Retail of lighting products
EE —_T-OFt—-AZTRRE 1ER 100% % and household furniture in
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Name

ol

Place and date of
incorporation/establishment

EMAY RIBER A

fully paid s are
capital

BRITR
BERE

equity interest héid
by the Group
AREREEH

JE 1R IR A 22

Principal activities
and place of operation

FREFRERME

Lighting Connected Limited

Real Luck Limited

Trendmall Group Limited

Trendmall Gallery Limited
L ERRBR AT

Trendmall International Limited

Hong Kong, 26 November 2014
BE —E-mET-AZ+H

Hong Kong, 1 December 2014
FF —T-MOF+-A—-H

Hong Kong, 2 December 2014
EE —E-NE+T-AZH

Hong Kong, 15 December 2014

A% ZE-NETZA+HRA

Hong Kong, 15 December 2014
E% —T-NE+-A+hAE

HK$1
BT

HK$1
BT

HK$1
BT
HK$1

BT

HK$1
BT

Note: None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end of

the year.

100% indirect
100% A%

100% indirect
100% M

100% indirect
100% A #

100% indirect

100% M %

100% indirect
100% M %

Retail of lighting products
and household furniture in
Hong Kong

REBZERGERRRE

Retail of lighting products
and household furniture in
Hong Kong

REBZERBHERRRE

Investment holding

RARK

Provision of management
services

RUEEERE

Wholesale of tableware and
its related products and
international trade

HEEAREEBERR
HRE S

M MEARRFRILBERTEMNESES -
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
MBERE

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=t-HLEE

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
= g = —HE == S —E—aE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET THT TET THT THx
OPERATING RESULTS WEEE
Revenue EEH 74,347 78,927 83,891 82,227 69,515
Cost of sales HEMAK (35,194) (36,619) (37,652) (38,173) (32,752)
Gross profit e 39,153 42,308 46,239 44,054 36,763
Other income, gain and losses HiA - i REE 913 1,628 734 4,069 441
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHEHZ (27,271) (28,318) (27,422) (23,005) (25,925)
Administrative and other expenses TBREMRY (14,469) (17,094) (15,373) (14,169) (13,790)
Impairment loss on property, plantand ~ #1¥ - BE kR EREFE
equipment (95) (58) (8) (160) (54)
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets TREEENERE (6,831) (2,411 (421) (1,762) (1,707)
Expected credit losses (recognised)/ SREE(BR) /BEH
reversed on financial assets BHEEBRE (36) (1,603) (1,139) (121) 4
Finance costs BIERK AR (1,877) (924) (761) (642) (694)
(Loss)/Profit before tax BB A (BE) /%A (10,513) (6,472) 1,849 8,264 (4,962)
Income tax (expense)/credit frEs (AX) /£ (998) (373) 546 (107) 30
(Loss)/Profit and total comprehensive &2 T & A
income for the year attributable to ~ E X (F#8) /&7
owners of the Company REERRAE (11,511) (6,845) 2,395 8,157 (4,932)
As at 31 March
R=B=+-H
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—E-mE —EC-=E —E-CF —E-—F& —ECEF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT THL THL THT T
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BERER
Total assets BERE 31,251 49,601 54,350 53,974 35,609
Total liabilities BERE (22,562) (29,401) (27,305) (29,324) (19,116
Net assets EEFE 8,689 20,200 27,045 24,650 16,493
Total equity EReR 8,689 20,200 27,045 24,650 16,493
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